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The Reynolds Family of Dayton has a. noteworthy heritage. It is a peculiarly 

American heritage, for every ancestor of Grand£ ather and Grandmother Reynolds 

was living here in these United States when our nation was horn. Several of 

them served with distinction in our War of Independence. 

In the still more distant past, we find definite records that some, at least, of 

our forefathers came to America in the early sixteen hundreds, within th~ first 

score of years following the landing of the Pilgrims. Possibly some others who 

left no record which we can now discover landed here at an equally early date. 

Finally, one line of our ancestors lived here for many centuries hef ore the 

coming of the white man:-the Wyandot ancestors of the great chief Tar-he'. 

Our heritage records generations of pioneers: men and women of vision, of 

courage, of industry, of leadership. It took all of these qualities for Tar-he', 

Isaac Zane and Myeerah to contribute so largely and successfully to the peaceful 

settlement of the fertile lands of western Ohio; for Seth and Hannah Read to 

push through the wilderness from the shores of New England to western New 

York State and later to found a settlement still farther west which is now Erie, 

Pennsylvania; or for Elisha and Mary Reynolds to sail with their seven children 

on a home-made raft from the head waters of the Allegheny down the Ohio to 

Marietta and thence overland to their new home in Union County. 

Grandfather and Grandmother carried on the best traditions of this heritage. 

Grand£ ather was not merely a success£ ul business man; Grandmother was not 

just the conventional society matron. Both were real leaders in the life of our 

community. Both were leaders in their church and in many local Charities. This 

leadership was not only recognized during their lifetimes, hut is still remembered 



hy those who knew then1. A recent acknowledgment which hears the test of 

ti1ne and the judgment of a great man is contained in Governor Cox's recent 

autohiography. \Vriting of life in Dayton in our grandparents' time, he lists 

the Reynoldses hy name among the most prominent Dayton families, of whon1 he 

says: "The so-called old fan1ilies of Dayton were of fine blood and tradition and 

helped maintain an attractive co1nmunity. They made up a body keenly interested 

in education, the churches and general culture." 

As one of their descendants, it has been a great pleasure and satisfaction to 

n1e to collect and edit the information which follows in this little family history. 
r. 

l hope it will he of some service as a means of preserving certain information 

which might otherwise be difficult or impossible to re-discover in the course 

of another generation. 

Most of all I hope that we of the present and future generations can properly 

evaluate this proud heritage into which it has been our good fortune to he horn. 

To belong to an old family whose past is highlighted hy the lives and deeds of 

outstanding men and women should, I think, he considered not as a privilege 

hut rather as a responsibility, - a challenge to measure up as best we can to 

the standards set us hy our forefathers, - a mandate to contribute our full share 

toward passing on our good name unsullied to future generations. 

rf 



In preparing this genealogy of the Reynolds Family of Dayton, I have been 

greatly assisted by a number of relatives· and friends, to whom J wish to express 

my sincere thanks for their interest and cooperation. 

Especially am I indebted to my good friend William J. Hamilton, Librarian 

of The Dayton Public Library. Without his continued advice and assistance I 

never would have secured much of my most valuable data. Not only did Will 

help me unceasingly as a personal friend, but as managing head of our Pu,blic 

Library he put its entire resources at my disposal and in his official capacity was 

able to secure valuable cooperation from other libraries. I had not realized that 

public libraries collected and treasured scrapbooks and clippings about local 

families. More power and ammunition to them. 

At Mr. Hamilton's request, The Wisconsin Historical Library, Madison, Wis­

consin, loaned The Dayton Public Library one of the very few copies extant of 

"SETH READ, HIS ANCESTORS AND DESCENDANTS." The only other copy 

we were able to locate is in the Library of Congress. I am deeply indebted to The 

Wisconsin Historical Library for their generosity in loaning this rare volume. 

I am also greatly indebted to Mr. Stephen F. Tillman for furnishing me the 

correct Reynolds lineage from 1530 down to the birth of Elisha Reynolds. Our 

earlier research contained several errors which he kindly corrected. For twenty 

years Mr. Tillman has made an exhaustive study of the Reynolds Family gen­

ealogy and is today the foremost authority on this subject. 

Others who have generously assisted me in collecting data include: 

Mrs. Elizabeth Bonham, Marysville, Ohio • Walter Brake, Superintendent, 

Milford Center Cemetery • Mrs. Richard Hallam Grant • Mrs. Mary 

Reynolds Huffman, daughter of Lewis G. Reynolds • Mrs. Delmar Reynolds 

Hughes • Miss Dade Kennedy, Bellefontaine, Ohio, daughter of Gen. Robert 

g 



P. and Maria Gardner Kennedy and niece of Grandmother Reynolds • 

Miss Marjorie Knapp, Springfield (Mass.) City Library ° Charles E. Moran, 

Irwin, Ohio, grandson of Hilah Reynolds Woodworth • Mrs. Mary Hughes 

Morehouse, Librarian, Bellefontaine Public Library • John E. Parrott, 

Jr., son of Adele Reynolds Parrott • Mrs. Nellie Peters, Irwin, Ohio, 

granddaughter of Hilah Reynolds Woodworth • 0. K. Reames, Zanesfield, 

Ohio • Rev. Charles Lee Reynolds, Newark, N. J., grandson of Ira and the 

son of James I. Reynolds • Mrs. Lewis Gardner Reynolds • Miss Sarah M. 

Van Loan, Dayton, Ohio • Miss Elma A. Whitney, Librarian, Worth-

ington (Ohio) Public Library • Rev. Alonzo Woodworth, Merom, Ind., 

son of Hilah Reynolds Woodworth • ~r. & Mrs. Del Woodworth, 

Irwin, Ohio, he a grandson of Hilah R. Woodworth • Dr. Reuben G. 

Woodworth, Denver, Colo., son of Hilah Reynolds Woodworth 

Finally, my sincere thanks go to Vice-President Frank F. Pfeiffer and his 

associates in The Reynolds & Reynolds Co., who so beautifully arranged and 

published this work. What my amateur effort lacks in literary genius they have 

greatly offset by their artistry and publishing skill. 



THE REYNOLDS FAMILY GENEALOGY 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

The Reynolds Family in England claims descent from a son of Grethferth the 

Dane, King of Northumberland. Legend says that he and two sons were driven 

from England circa 944 and took shelter in Normandy. If this is true .our 

ancestry in England is of still greater antiquity than Grethferth's time, though 

the family name Reynolds had not yet been adopted. 

The name Reynolds seems to be of Norman origin, anglicized from RP-nard 

or Reynard. This would account for the foxes on the family coat of arms. Hered­

itary family names were just coming into general use about the time our ancestors 

settled in Normandy, so it is quite natural that they adopted a Norman name. 

Something more than a century later one of their descendants, a Fitz Reynolds 

( Fitz meaning son of) returned to England with William the Conqueror in 

1066 and permanently established the family there. His descendants have multi­

plied and have included many prominent, some famous, Englishmen. 

With the discovery of America, several of the Reynolds name saw the promise 

of the New World and were among the earliest settlers in Plymouth Colony 

and somewhat later in Virginia. Our branch of the family descends from one of 

the first of several brothers to settle permanently in America. The direct line 

of descent, beginning in England circa 1530 with the birth of Christopher 

Reynolds, runs as follows: 

1. CHRISTOPHER REYNOLDS was horn circa 1530 in County Kent, England. 

He married {wife's name unknown) and settled in London, where he engaged 



in co1nn1erce and trade. Children: George, horn circa 1555; Mary, who died 

young; Thomas, Cornelius, and Richard who was born in 1575. 

2. RICHARD REYNOLDS, son of Christopher Reynolds, was born in England 

in 1575; married Ann Harrison in 1605; died in York County, Va. ( date un­

known). Children: Edward, Nicholas, William, Gilbert. 

3. WILLIAM REYNOLDS, son of Richard and Ann tHarrison) Reynolds, was 

horn in County Kent, England, circa 1606. He rnarried Margaret Exton and 

after settling for a while in County Sussex, England, they arrived in Plymouth 

Colony, R. I., August 20, 1636. William was engaged in commerce and they made 

repeated trips back to England, where some 'of their children were horn and 

brought back with them to this country. They finally settled and probably died 

in Providence, R. I. Children: seven daughters, names unknown, and eight sons; 

James and Robert (twins), Henry, John, William, Francis, Joseph and Thomas. 

Five of the brothers went together to Chester County, Pa. 

4. HENRY REYNOLDS, son of William and Margaret (Exton) Reynolds, was 

horn May 1, 1655. An early genealogy places his birth in Chichester, Sussex, 

England, hut Mr. S. F. Tillman is now of the opinion that he was born in Provi­

dence, R. I. On November 10, 1678, he married Prudence Clayton ( who died 

February 4, 1728). They settled in Chester County, Pa., where he died October 

7, 1724. They had ten children, including Henry, born August 16, 1693. 

5. HENRY REYNOLDS, son of Henry and Prudence l Clayton) Reynolds was 

horn August 16, 1693, in Chester County, Pennsylvania. In 1717 he married 

Hannah Brown (horn October 31, 1707, died December 12, 1731). They settled 

in Cecil County, Maryland, where Henry died December 17, 1779. Their issue 

included Samuel, who was born August 26, 1723. 

6. SAMUEL REYNOLDS, son of Henry and Hannah tBrown) Reynolds, was 

born in Cecil County, Md., August 26, 1723 and died there April 27, 1799. He 

was twice 1narried, the second time on January 25, 1747 to Susannah Sidwell 

(_ who died Aug. 13, 1796). Children hy second marriage included Richard, horn 

May 31, 1754. 



7. RICHARD REYNOLDS, son of Samuel and Susannah (Sidwell) Reynolds, 

was born in Cecil County, Md., May 31, 1754, and died there September 9, 1823. 

On April 8, 1779 he married Rachel England (horn 1752, died Dec. 4, 1830). 

Children: Warner, Elisha, horn December 22, 1783; Joel, Rachel, Sarah, Richard, 

Susannah. 

8. ELISHA REYNOLDS, son of Richard and Rachel (England) Reynolds, was 

born in Cecil County, Md., December 22, 1783. He died Feb. 10, 1843 in the 

former town of Homer, Union County, Ohio, which he founded in 1834. Circa 

1800-01 he was married in Geneva, N. Y., to Mary Witter (born July 16, 1781, 

died May 7, 1828). They came west and settled in Union County, Ohio, circa 

1815. Children: Sarah, born 1802; Elizabeth, born Aug. 3, 1803; Mary, born 1805; 

Ira, horn Jan. 2, 1807; lmmer, born Nov. 30, 1807; Delilah, horn 1809; Susan, 

born 1814; Hilah, horn Jan. 22, 1817; Elisha Lewis, born in 1820. In 1829 Elisha 

married Sophia Burnham. Child: Martha Jane, born in 1830. 

9. IRA REYNOLDS, son of Elisha and Mary (Witter) Reynolds, was born in 

Geneva, New York, January 2, 1807. He died at the home of his sister, Hilah 

Reynolds Woodworth, in Union County, Ohio, November 24, 1880. He was 

married Novembe1· 14, 1833 to Harriet N. Chapman (horn Oct. 31, 1816, died 

March 12, 1852). Children: Lucius Delmar, horn Sept. 30, 1835; Hiland Henry; 

Eugene; James Irwin, horn April 25, 1846; Leander Lewis and two sons who 

died in infancy, both named Dwight. 

10. LUCIUS DELMAR REYNOLDS, son of Ira and Harriet (Chapman) 

Reynolds, was horn in Homer, Union County, Ohio, September 30, 1835. He 

died in Dayton, Ohio, March 11, 1913. On September 27, 1857 he married Sophia 

Trask Gardner (horn Jan. 16, 1837, died June 16, 1906) daughter of Gen. Isaac 

S. and Eliza (Read) Gardner, of Bellefontaine, Ohio. He served in the U. S. 

Treasury Department, Washington, D. C., 1861-66, then moved to Dayton, Ohio, 

where he established The Reynolds & Reynolds Co. Children: Lewis Gardner, 

horn June 28, 1858; Annie Eliza, horn December 7, 1860; Harry Chapman, born 

January 7, 1867; Edwin Stanton, horn October 17, 1869; Sophie Adele, horn 

November 16, 1883. 



11. LEWIS GARDNER REYNOLDS, eldest child of Lucius D. and Sophia 

( Gardner) Reynolds, was born in Bellefontaine, Ohio, June 28, 1858. He was 

married in Dayton, Ohio, April 15, 1883 to Jeannette Hardy Lytle (horn August 

3, 1865, died November 17, 1903), daughter of John S. and Mary (Vorrhees) 

Lytle. Children: Mary Lytle, born June 30, 1888; Lewis Gardner, Jr., born June 

20, 1892; Janet, born June 1, 1895. He was married (2nd) on June 3, 1909 to 

Mrs. Mary (Vaughan) Williams of Richmond, Ind. He died in Richmond, 

August 20, 1940. She still resides there with her son, Edward Williams. 

12. MARY LYTLE REYNOLDS, eldest child of Lewis G. and Jeannette (Lytle) 

Reynolds, was born in Dayton, June 30, 1888~ She was married in Dayton F ebru­

ary 23, 1911 to Horace McKee Huffman (born August 12, 1885, died May 23, 1945) 

eldest son of George P. and Maud (McKee) Huffman of Dayton. Children: 

Jeannette Lytle, born August 19, 1912; Horace McKee, Jr., horn August 8, 1914; 

Marion Reynolds, horn January 5, 1917; Phillips Gardner, horn May 26, 1918; 

Robert Reynolds, born October 9, 1925. She resides in Dayton. 

13. JEANNETTE LYTLE HUFFMAN, eldest child of Horace M. and Mary 
.. 

(Reynolds) Huffman, was horn in Dayton, August 19, 1912. She was married in 

Dayton June 29, 1940 to Charles Bailey Clegg (horn January 27, 1903) son of 

Harrie and Lola (Crume) Clegg of Dayton. Children: Martha Lytle, horn May 

15, 1941; Kathleen Phillips, horn May 22, 1943; Charles Bailey III, horn Feb­

ruary 3, 1948. They reside in Dayton. 

13. HORACE McKEE HUFFMAN, Jr., second child of Horace M. and Mary 

(Reynolds) Huffman, was horn in Dayton, August 8, 1914. He was married in 

Dayton, October 2, 1937 to Jane Boggs (horn November 17, 1914) daughter of 

Frank K. and Elizabeth (Primm) Boggs. Children: Stephen Phillips, horn Octo­

ber 28, 1940; William Anthony, horn June 24, 1942; Michael Gordon, horn 

June 4, 1948. They reside in Dayton. 

13. MARION REYNOLDS HUFFMAN, third child of Horace M. and ·Mary 

(Reynolds) Huffman, was born in Dayton, January 5, 1917. She was married in 

Dayton September 23, 1939 to Danforth Steere Mitchell (horn February 15, 



1915) son of Clovis and Mary K. (Browne) Mitchell of Harmony, R. I. Children: 

Danforth Steere, Jr., horn October 13, 1940; Robert Huffman, horn .A.ugust 3, 

1942; Mary Reynolds, horn April 26, 1948. They reside in Dayton. 

13. PHILLIPS GARDNER HUFFMAN, fourth child of Horace M. and Mary 

(Reynolds) Huffman, was horn in Dayton, J\.Iay 26, 1918. He served in World War 

II as a 2nd Lieut., then 1st Lieut. in U. S. Army Air Force. He was married at 

Maxwell Field, Montgomery, Ala., March 21, 1942 to Ann Wyper (horn August 

24, 1921) daughter of James and Anna (Stuurmann) Wyper of llartford, Conn. 

He was killed March 21, 1943 while piloting his bomber between India and China. 

They had no children. 

13. ROBERT REYNOLDS HUFFMAN, fifth and youngest child of Horace M. 

and Mary (Reynolds) Huffman, was horn in Dayton, October 9, 1925. He is un­

married. He served in World War II, is now completing his studies at Dartmouth 

College and resides~ in Dayton with his mother. 

12. LEWIS GARDNER REYNOLDS, Jr., second child of Lewis G. and 

Jeannette (Lytle) Reynolds, was horn in Dayton, June 20, 1892. He was married 

in Dayton in 1914 to Rebecca Maud Huffman (horn February 18, 1893, died 

April 12, 1948) youngest child of George P. and Maud (McKee) Huffman and 

sister of Horace M. Huffman. He died October 13, 1936. They had no children. 

12. JANET REYNOLDS, third and youngest child of Lewis G. and Jeannette 

f Lytle) Reynolds, was horn in Dayton, June 1, 1895. She was married in Dayton, 

May 25, 1916 to John Walter Clements (horn December 2, 1889) son of Edward 

and Kate (Mahan) Clements, of Richmond, Ind. Children: John Walter, Jr., 

horn June 16, 1919; Janet Lytle, horn November 11, 1920; Cathryn, horn Dec• 

ember 19, 1921. They reside in Richmond. 

13. JOHN WALTER CLEMENTS, Jr., eldest child of John W. and Janet 

(Reynolds) Clements, was horn in Richmond, Ind., June 16, 1919. He was married 

July 7, 1945 to Frances McGuire (born August 7, 1925) daughter of Whitney and 

Juliet McGuire of Richmond. Children: Carole, born December 8, 1946; John 

Walter III, born December 24, 1948. They reside in Richmond. 



13. JANET LYTLE CLEMENTS, second child of John W. and Janet (Rey­

nolds) Clements, was horn in Richmond, November 11, 1920. She was married 

Nov. 15, 1947 to Thomas Lacey, I horn August 7, 1919) son of Thomas and Mildred 

Lacey of Richmond. They have no children; reside in Evanston, Ill. 

13. CATHRYN, third and youngest child of-John W. and Janet (Reynolds) 

Clements, was horn in Richmond, December 19, 1921. She was married Nov­

ember 1, 1941, to Robert P. Fortune (horn September 6, 1919) son of Russel 

P. and Eleanore Fortune, of Indianapolis, Ind. Children: Peter, horn January 

9, 1943; Cathryn Reynolds, horn May 7, 1945. They reside in Indianapolis. 

11. ANNIE ELIZA REYNOLDS, second child of Lucius D. and Sophia 
4 

~Gardner) Reynolds, was horn in Bellefontaine, Ohio, December 7, 1860. She was 

married in Dayton, Ohio, April 8, 1886 to Robert Lewis Hughes (h. August 17 ! 

1858 in Brooklyn, N. Y. - d. July 5, 1917 in Evanston, Ill.), son of Robert Davis 

and Louisa Georgianna (Radcliffe) Hughes, then of Dayton, later of Cleveland, 

Ohio. She died in Cleveland, March 17, 1919. Children: Robert Davjs, horn May 

24, 1891; Delmar Reynolds, born November 15, 1893; Marianna, born December 

11, 1896. 

12. ROBERT DA VIS HUGHES, eldest child of Robert L. and Annie lRey­

nolds) Hughes, was horn in Dayton, May 24, 1891. In World War I he served as 1st 

Lieut., later Captain in U. S. Army, Ordnance Dept. He was married in Milford, 

Ohio, October 19, 1918 to Martha Menzies Lesher Houston (horn May 5, 1896 in 

Newport, Ky.) elder daughter of Charles S. and Patricia Winston (Stiles) 

Houston. Children: Robert Davis, Jr., born July 17, 1919; James Lawrence, born 

February 25, 1924. They reside in Dayton, Ohio. 

13. ROBERT DA VIS HUGHES, Jr., eldest child of Robert D. and Martha 

M. (Houston) Hughes, was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, July 17, 1919. He served in 

the U.S. Navy in World War II with rank of Ensign, Lieut. (j. g.) and Lieut. He 



was married in Dayton, May 30, 1942 to Nancy Wolfe (horn in Indianapolis, Ind., 

August 5, 1920), only child of Robert A. and Winifred (Jenne) Wolfe of Dayton, 

formerly of Brazil, Ind. and Indi'!napolis. Children:_ Robert Davis III, horn in 

Boston,'Mass., February 16, 1943; James Wolfe, horn in Dayton, January 2, 1947. 

They reside in Dayton. 

13. JAMES LAWRENCE HUG-HES, second and youngest child of Robert 

D. and Martha M. (Houston) Hughes, was horn in Dayton, February 25, 1924 

and died there July 29., 1929. 

12. DELMAR REYNOLDS HUGHES, second child of Robert L. and Annie 

(Reynolds) Hughes, was horn in Dayton, November 15, 1893. In World War I, he 

served in the U. S. Army as Lieut., later Captain, with 6th Field Artillery, First 

Division. In World War II he was a Colonel in U. S. Army Air Force. He was 

married November 12, 1921 to Constance Burkam (h. October 1, 1900 in Cin­

cinnati, Ohio), eldest child of Elzey G. and Blanche (Thompson) Burkam of 

Dayton. Children: Elizabeth Randolph Burkam, horn September 13, 1922; 

Delmar Reynolds, Jr., horn November 26, 1925. They reside in Dayton. 

13. ELIZABETH RANDOLPH BURKAM HlTGHES, eldest child of Delmar 

R. and Constance (Burkam) Hughes, was born in Dayton, September 13, 1922. 

She was married in Dayton, January 20, 1946 to Enos McClenden Denham, son 

of Dr. Rohert Hilliard and Blanche (McClenden) Denham of Grand Rapids, 

Michigan. Child: Constance Hilliard, horn February 13, 194 7. They reside 

in Grand Rapids. 

13. DELMAR REYN·OLDS (Turk) HUGHES, Jr., second and youngest child 

of Delmar R. and Constance (Burkam) llughes, was horn in Dayton, November 

26, 1925. He served in The U. S. Army in World War II as 2nd Lieut. and is now 

a student at the University of Wisconsin. 



12. MARIANNA HUGHES, third and youngest child of Robert L. and Annie 

(Reynolds) Hughes, was horn in Dayton, December 11, 1896, and died there 

December 9, 1897. 

11. HARRY CHAPMAN REYNOLDS, third child of Lucius D. and Sophia 

(Gardner) Reynolds, was born in Bellefontaine, Ohio, January 7, 1867, and died 

in Dayton, Ohio, February 7, 1871. 

11. EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS, fourth child of Lucius D. and Sophia 

(Gardner) Reynolds was horn in Dayton, Ohio, October 17, 1869. He was married 

in Dayton, February 11, 1904, to Florence Stoddard (h. July 15, 1879) the young­

est child of John W. and Susan (Keifer) Stoddard, of Dayton. Children: Edwin 

Stanton, Jr., born January 19, 1905 ; John W. Stoddard, born December 14, 1906; 

Sue Keifer, born October 8, 1913; Florence Stoddard, horn October 15, 1915; 

Sophie Adele, born August 11, 1924. He died in Miami, Florida, March 19, 1935. 

She resides in Pasadena, Calif. 

12. EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS, Jr., eldest child of Edwin S. and Flor­

ence (Stoddard) Reynolds, was born in Dayton, January 19, 1905. He was married 

in New York City,· December 19, 1925, to Thirza Grant, (h. September 9, 1908) 

eldest child of Richard Hallam and Laura (Williams) Grant, of Dayton. He 

died February 25, 1941. Children: Thirza Grant, horn September 23, 1926; 

Edwin Stanton III, horn December 12, 1928. 

13. THIRZA GRANT (Peggy) REYNOLDS, eldest child of Edwin S. Jr., and 

Thirza (Grant) Reynolds, was born in New York City, September 23, 1926. She 

was married in Dayton, October 10, 1947 to Hiram Franklin DuPre (born March 

15, 1922) son of Hiram Mason and Sarah (Owens) DuPre, of Walhalla, S. C. They 

have one child, Nicholas Grant DuPre, born December 25, 1948. They reside 

in Dayton. 



13. EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS III, second and youngest child of Edwin 

S., Jr., and Thirza (Grant) Reynolds, was born in New York City, December 12, 

1928. He is unmarried and is now a student at Yale University. 

12. JOHN W. STODDARD REYNO.LOS, second child of Edwin S. and 

Florence (Stoddard) Reynolds, was born in Dayton, December 14, 1906. He was 

married and divorced and had no children. On July 7, 1940 he married Guanda 

Mae Carter (horn October 19, 1920) daughter of Lewis S. and Kathryn Carter 

of Dayton. Children: Pamela Carter, born September 11, 1941; John W. 

Stoddard, Jr., borr1: August 6, 1945. They reside in San Marino, Calif. 

12. SUE KEIFER REYNOLDS, third child of Edwin S. and Florence (Stod­

dard) Reynolds, was born in Dayton, October 8, 1913. She was first married to 

William Winans. By this marriage she has one child, Ross. She later married 

Booth W aterhury. By this marriage she has one child, Stephen. 

12. FLORENCE STODDARD REYNOLDS, fourth child of Edwin S. and 

Florence (Stoddard) Reynolds, was horn in Dayton, October 15, 1915. She was 

married in New .York City to R. Merrill Decker. Children: Florence Stoddard 

and Consuelo Reynolds (twins) born September 19, 1936; Alicia M., horn May 

24, 1938. They reside in New York City. 

12. SOPHIE ADELE REYNOLDS, fifth and youngest child of Edwin S. and 

Florence (Stoddard) Reynolds, was born in Dayton, August 11, 1924. She was 

married in Pasadena, Calif., September 3, 1945 to Alexander McGowin W ormau 

(born October 10, 1921) son of Philip H. and Kathleen I Ramsey) Worman, of 

Dayton. Children: Kathleen Ramsey, born October 5, 1946; Alexander McGowin, 

Jr., born September 15, 1948. They reside in Pasadena, Calif. 

11. SOPHIA ADELE REYNOLDS, fifth and youngest child of Lucius D. and 

Sophia (Gardner) Reynolds, was horn in Dayton, Ohio, November 16, 1883. She 



was married in Dayton, June 21, 1905, to John Ennals Parrott (born January 25, 

187 4, died J ~ne 25, 1929) son of Henry ·Eugene and Elizabeth 1. Peirce) Parrott of 

Dayton. She died in Pasadena, Calif., April 23, 1944. Child:. John Ennals, Jr. 

12. JOHN ENNALS PA.RROTT, Jr., only child of John E. and Sophia Adele 

(Reynolds) Parrott, was born in Dayton, June 24, 1906. He was married in White 

Sulphur Springs, ~r. Va., September 23, 1934, to Cynthia Gates, daughter of 

Alfred Bennett and Lina (Hemenway) Gates. They were divorced in June, 1948. 

Children: Cynthia Gates, horn August 2, 1938; John Ennals III, born February 

15, 1943; Peggy Gates, horn August 26, 1945. 

As to the family origin and line of descent through the birth of Elisha Reynolds and his 
migration to Ohio: the exhaustive studies of Stephen F. Tillman, based on census reports, /ami/,y 
bibles and journals, pret'iously reported genealogical data, wills, land deeds and information 
supplied by living persons. 

Beginning with the place of birth (but not the date) of Elisha Reynolds, my data is based on: 
Biography of L. D. Reynolds in A. G. DRURY'S HISTORY OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY 
(DPL #977.173/D796}; an article in the UNION COUNTY JOURNAL of May 12, 1936; Biography 
of James I. Reynolds in HISTORY OF KANSAS CITY, MO. by Mrs. Carrie Westlake Whitney; 
inscriptions on tombstones in Milford Center Cemetery; genealogical data belonging to Charks E. 
Moran and Nellie Peters, grandchildren of Hilah Reynolds Woodworth, who still live on part 
of the Elisha Reynolds farmland. 



ELISHA REYNOLDS 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Elisha Reynolds brought our family to Ohio. The son of Richard and Rachel 

England Reynolds, he was horn on his parents' farm near Rising Sun, in Cecil 

County, Maryland, December 22, 1783. While still a very young man, he migrated 

to Geneva, New York, in 1799 or 1800. Within the year he met, courted and 

married Mary Witter, daughter of Elijah and Elizabeth Witter of Geneva. The 

Witters were a family of wealth and distinction whose name and lineage. go 

back in this country to 1640, when two Witter brothers came here from England 

with Obadiah Holmes. 

Tradition has it that the Witters vigorously opposed the marriage. This could 

have been due to Elisha's youth and the fact that Mary was more than two 

years his senior, having been horn in Geneva, July 16, 1781. The reason which 

Elisha and Mary passed on to their children, ·was that Elisha was penniless and 

without any resources for supporting a wife and family. Their story goes on to 

say that they married in the face of continued opposition from Mr. Witter and 

that Elisha secured some unimproved land which he proceeded to clear; further 

that to preserve his one and only shirt he took it off and hung it on a sapling 

while he was burning brush, but his fire got out of control and consume8 the 

sapling and his shirt. Just how long he went shirtless is not recorded, hut the 

family tale ends with financial reverses to the elder Witter and Elisha coming 

to the rescue and buying a controlling interest in his properties. This account 

has just heen sent me by Dr. Reuben G. Woodworth of Denver, Colorado. Dr. 

Woodworth, who is in his ninetieth year, is the youngest of Hilah Reynolds 

W oodworth's sixteen children. His mother passed the story on to him just as 

she had it from her parents, Elisha and Mary. 



The early opposition of the Witters is said to have given Elisha the idea of 

seeking a fortune in the new· western country. This determination was not put 

into effect, however, for several years. Indeed, seven of Elisha and Mary's nine 

children were born on the Ontario County farm near Geneva: Sarah, Elizabeth, 

Mary, Ira, Immer, Susan and Delilah. 

Sometime about 1815 the big move was made. Elisha and Mary, with their 

seven children, joined a party of settlers hound for Ohio. This group included 

one or more of Elisha's brothers, Warner, Joel and Richard, Jr., and probably 

Mary's brother, David Witter. They hoarded a home-made raft on the upper 

waters of the Allegheny River, floated down past Pittsburgh out onto the broader 

expanse of the beautiful Ohio and finally landed some hundreds of miles from 

their starting point, probably at Marietta. From there they traveled overland to 

Perry County. Some of the party settled there permanently, hut Elisha soon 

continued on to Union County where he bought seven hundred acres of farm 

land lying between the present towns of l\,lilford Center and Irwin, just east 

of State Route Four. His choice of a farm was well made. It was part of the-rich 

section which has come to he kno~n as the Darby plains. He prospered immedi­

ately. 

Two more children were born after the new home was established in Union 

County: Hilah and Elisha Lewis. 

Not long thereafter, on May 7, 1828, Mary Witter Reynolds, the beloved wife 

and mother, passed away. The following year Elisha married Sophia Burnham 

and to them in 1830, was horn one daughter, Martha Jane. 

After some seventeen years on the Union County farm, Elisha turned his 

attention to industry and to the building of a town. His two sons, Ira and lmmer, 

had grown to be bright young business men and heartily joined him in the 

project. Immer had spent a year in New York City, getting an insight into the 



manufacture of household furniture. In 1834 the town of Homer, Ohio, was 

laid out on the Reynolds farm, fronting the old Post Road which was then the 

main highway from Worthington west to Urbana. A furniture factory was built, 

cabinet makers and other workmen were brought to Homer, their houses sprang 

up around the Reynolds homestead, and· soon the town was hustling and turning 

out a high quality of furniture. A carriage and wagon shop, a saw mill, a black­

smith shop and a cheese factory also soon began operation. Homer became the 

leading industrial town in Union County. In its rapid growth, Homer was a 

wonder town, due to the vision, intelligence and energy of Elisha Reynolds, 

assisted hy his two sons, Ira and Immer. 

Alas, the town of Homer is no more. It is not even a ghost town, for there is no 

longer a single relic of its former industry. Its site" returned again to fa-rm land, 

is still owned by Elisha's descendants, though none of the present generation 

thereabouts hear the Reynolds name. It is said that some of its houses were 

moved over to nearby Irwin, hut I have been unable to find anyone there who 

can identify them, if, indeed, any are still standing. 

Homer's nemesis was the Iron Horse. When the railroads pushed westward 

from Columbus they passed Homer by. It was originally hoped to run the Penn­

sylvania Line through Homer, but because of unfavorable topography the right­

of-way had to he swung five miles to the northward, through Milford Center. 

Several years later, the Big Four (now the New York Central) was located far 

to the south through Springfield. That was the beginning of the end. 

Elisha did not live, however, to see the disappearance of his dream town, for 

he passed away on February 10, 1843, at the age of fifty-nine years, while still 

at the height of his success. He was a great American, a courageous pioneer, a 

1nan who overcame great difficulties in the new land of Ohio to establish his 

home and his family. His descendants in great number still live not too far 

away from where he peacefully rests in the little cemetery just east of Milford 

Center. 



Of Elisha's ten children, Sarah, the eldest, who ,vas born in Geneva, N. Y., 

March 17, 1801, never married. Until her father's death she lived at the family 

homestead, then moved to Milford Center where she resided alone the rest of 

her life and died there on February 14, 1872. 

Elizabeth, the second child, was horn August 3, 1803. She married Edward 

Potter of Delaware, Ohio, September 11, 1832. She died August 11, 1885. Mr. 

Potter was a local official of what later hecan1e the Big Four and then the New 

York Central Railroad. 

Mary, the third child, was horn in 1805. She married James H. Irwin on 

November 7, 1826. They spent their lives on a farm near Irwin Station, which, 

as I have already mentioned, was adjacent to the Reynolds homesite. They had 

four sons an.d three daughters. Gwynne, the eldest, was wounded in the Civil 

War. He never married and finally went ·west, locating in Arkansas. While 

living alone there, he was robbed and murdered and the thief was never 

apprehended. Duane, another son, was killed in the service of his country. Two 

of the girls married and resided in Europe. 

Of Ira, the eldest son, my great-grand£ ather, I shall write in detail in the · 

following section. 

lmmer, the fifth child and second son, was horn November 30, 1807. He 

married Hope Garwood on 1.\.pril 3, 1832. On August 23, 1842 he passed away at 

the untimely age of only thirty-four years. His early death was a sad hlow to 

his family and to all who depended upon the prosperity of the town of Homer, 

for his father at fifty-eight was not in good health and his brother Ira had just 

a few months earlier moved to West Liberty, Ohio. Immer and Hope had but one 

child, a daughter named Serepta, who married a relative of her mother's family, 

French Garwood. 

A fourth daughter, Delilah, was born in 1809 or 1810. On December 18, 1829 

she married Rodney Smith of Delaware County. Their lives were spent in 

farming and in rearing ten children. One· of these, F. R. Smith, was. for some 

years the head of the Ohio State Grange. 



The seventh child was also a dau~hter, Susan, born February 8~ 1814. She 

was the youngest of the children born in Geneva, N. Y. She married Samuel 

Taylor on June 27, 1847. Presumably, they lived in the vicinity of Homer or 

Milford Center, as she is buried in the Milford Center Cemetery. Her death 

occurred September 19, 1886. 

The first of the children born in Union County was Hilah, who arrived on 

January 22, 1817. She married Asahel Woodworth on April 5, 1832 and lived 

on the Woodworth farm just north of Irwin until April 4, 1902, when she 

passed away at the ripe age of eighty-five years. Aunt Hilah deserves special 

mention in this biography. It was at her home that Ira Reynolds was living 

at the time of his death in 1880. The close association between the W oodworths 

and our branch of the family was continued by Grandfather, not only with 

Aunt Hilah but with several of her children, particularly her daughter Imogene, 

who had married Anthony Moran and was also living at the Woodworth home­

stead in those days. I am happy to report, also, that in connection with my 

research for this biography I have had the pleasure of renewing this relationship 

with three of Aunt Hilah's grandchildren, all of whom live at Irwin on parts 

of the original Reynolds farm land. The first of these is Charles Edward Moran, 

son of Anthony an<l Iino gene (Woodworth) Moran. He is a hale and hearty 

young fellow of eighty-two, who enjoys a full day's work out in the fields of the 

old Woodworth farm which he now owns. From him I received much of my data 

regarding Ira, his wife 1-Iarriet and her family, the Chapmans of Worthington 

and Marysville. He ·was fourteen when Ira Reynolds died in the Woodworth 

home, where he and his parents were also living. He still remembers him clearly. 

He showed me a marble topped library table which Ira gave his mother with the 

statement that he had made it personally in the old furniture factory at Homer. 

The second is Cousin Nelly Peters. She is the daughter of Sarah l Woodworth) 

Morse. In addition to personal recollections, she loaned me the article from The 

UNION COUNTY JOURNAL of January 20, 1936, containing the history of 

the town of Homer and the life of Elisha Reynolds and his family. 



The third is Del Woodworth who owns the farm immediately north of Charles 

Moran.· 

In addition~ I have had the pleasure of corresponding with the two surviving 

members of Aunt Hilah's family of sixteen children. Number Fifteen, as he 

identifies himself, is the reverend Dr. Alonzo Woodworth, who served with 

distinction for some forty years as a missionary in the Orient and is now living, 

in his ninety-second year, at Merom, Indiana. Number Sixteen, the youngest of 

the family, is Dr. Reuben G. Woodworth, of Denver, Colorado. He is in his 

ninetieth year. It was from him that I received the story about Elisha's shirt. 

The ninth and youngest child of Elisha and Mary Witter Reynolds was Elisha 

Lewis, who was horn on the Union County farn1 in 1820. In 1845 he married 

Eliza Burnham of Milford Center. He was active at that time in the manu­

facturing interests at Homer. Later, as Homer's prosperity receded, he estab­

lished himself in the dry goods business in Milford Center and also was treasurer 

of Union County in the early sixties. At that time he resided on the corner 

where the Mil£ ord Center Bank now stands. This house was burned down in 

1867 and never rebuilt. Lewis had five children: French, George, Henry, 

Henrietta and Lorie (Lou). \Ve are particularly interested in French and Lou 

because of their close life-long association with Grandfather. French, who was 

horn in 1846, married Mae Stokes and ,vent into the Milford Center Bank, 

where he became its cashier, a position which he held until shortly before his 

death in 1915. His widow lived thereafter with her only daughter, Edna (who 

also married a Burnham and lived in Colu1nbus) until she passed away in 1943. 

Lou never married; for many years she resided with the Wingets and acted as 

Aunt Martha's housekeeper. I ren1ember French and Lou quite well.· Lou we 

always saw, of course, whenever Grandfather took us to visit Aunt. Martha, 

and on these same visits we seldom missed driving into Milford Center to see 

French at the Bank. 



Finally, we come to Aunt Martha herself, the youngest of Elisha's ten children 

and the only one born of his second marriage. She was born in 1830, hence was 

only four years older than Grandfather, though his aunt. She married Luther 

Winget, who became one of the wealthiest and most prominent farmers in Union 

County. They lived all their married lives on the old Post Road, on the site 

of erstwhile Homer. They had no children, which is probably one reason why 

Lou made her home with them. We grandchildren were occasionally permitted 

to accompany Grandfather on his visits to Aunt Martha, particularly after he 

purchased the Stoddard-Dayton roadster, since by then we were old enough to 

drive him up in it. We looked forward to these expeditions with a great deal 

of happy excitement and always had the wonderful good time we expected. 

After we went to College, Grandfather had a chauffeur to drive him. About two 

weeks before the great Dayton flood of 1913, they set out for Aunt Martha's 

and were overtaken by a sudden blizzard, from which exposure Grandfather 

caught pneumonia and died two days later. Uncle Luther had already passed 

away and Aunt Martha survived him only until December, 1913. Her will left 

her estate to the heirs of all the brothers and sisters of herself and Uncle Luther. 

By that time the number had grown to a staggering total. Several years and 

several lawsuits were required to effect the settlement. It became one of the 

most publicized cases in the history of the Probate Court of Union County. When 

I stopped at the Court House in Marysville in the fall of 1947, the incumbent 

Probate Judge, although he was but a boy when the will was probated, was 

thoroughly familiar with the case and without hesitation went directly to the 

files and brought out all the papers for my inspection. 

Monuments and headstones in Milford Center Cemetery 
UNION COUNTY JOURNAL, Marysville, Jan. 20, 1936, "A History of the Town of Homer." 
Records of the D.A.R. Chapter ·of Marysville, prepared from entries in Union County Court 

House. These records are in the Marysville Library and were sent to me through the courteay 
of Mrs. Elizabeth Bonham of Marysville. 
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Ira was the third child, and the eldest son, of Elisha and Mary Witter Reynolds. 

He was born January 2, 1807 in Geneva, N. Y., and was seven or eight years old 

when his parents migrated to Ohio, by raft down the Allegheny and Ohio Rivers 

to Marietta, thence overland to Union County. 

Presumably he spent his youth and early manhood on the Union County 

farm of his parents, though his genius seems to have been along mechanical 

rather than agricultural lines. 

On November 14, 1833 he was wed to Harriet N. Chapman, the youngest 

daughter of Benjamin and Sylvia Upson Chapman of Worthington, Ohio. It 

was just at the time that Elisha Reynolds established his furniture plant and 

founded the town of Homer adjacent to his Union County farm. Ira took his 

bride to Homer and with his brother Immer headed up the industries which 

for some years flourished there. 

On September 30, 1835, their first child was born, Lucius Dehnar, my 

grandfather. 

In 1838, Ira decided to strike out for himself and moved hio little family to 

West Liberty, in Logan County. Here he set up a dry goods and mercantile 

establishment which apparently was quite successful for a time. On August 18, 

1841, he purchased three large lots at the south-east corner of Detroit and 

Columbus Streets, still the leading corner of the town, and constructed a three 

story building, all or most of which presumably was occupied by his dry goods 

store. This building came to be known as the "Giraffe" building. It is still stand­

ing in good condition and is occupied by three small stores. 

About the same time, Ira began construction of a new home, one which waE 

surely the most pretentious residence at that time in West Liberty. It was 

located on a steep hillside at the edge of town and he very appropriately named 



the road leading to it Reynolds Street, a name which it still bears. This unusual 

dwelling has been a landn1ark and a topic of general interest to residents of 

West Liberty ever since its construction. As late as 1905, it was the subject of 

an article published in the ~ 1 est Liberty ''Banner", a copy of which is preserved 

in the Zane-Reynolds-Parrott scrap hook in The Dayton Public Library. This 

article, and the house it describes, are so interesting that I am copying the 

entire article verbatim: 

"Perhaps to no house in our village does so much interest attach as to the one 

on the slope of the hill which is its northern boundary, the interest being 

enhanced from the fact that in February, 1847, a large force of Michigan soldiers 

en route to engage in the l\lexican war encamped in it, coming on foot from 

Belle£ ontaine, to which place they had traveled from their northern homes 

in stage coaches, further means of transportation from there not being available. 

"The building is on a commanding site, a most magnificent view of the beau­

tiful Mad River valley to the east and south being had from its upper windows 

and from the roof. It is a massive three storied structure, designed and built 

between the years 1840-45 for Mr. Ira Reynolds, then a prosperous business man 

of West Liberty. Its triple overground cellars with walls and ceilings of dressed 

stone, one of them having an arched ceiling, must have cost as much as a 

comfortable modern dwelling. The main entrance is to the east, opening into 

a vestibule painted in oil landscape by a Mr. Evans, once a well known artist 

of more than local repute. There are parlors and a great dining room on the 

ground floor, a feature of which is that though the latter has no means by which 

it may he heated is yet warm in the severest winter weather and refreshingly 

cool in midsummer, it being surrounded on three sides by rooms which protect 

it from the outside heat and cold. Nor has this room any way of being lighted 

save by a door to the south, whose ample sidelights let in the sunshine. 



"The stairway leads from the northwest corner of this room into an upper 

hall of such proportions that one who took part in the social life of the family 

of R. E. Runkle, who bought the property from Mr. Reynolds, related that she 

had taken part in the dancing when there was ample room for four cotillions 

on its floors. The yai.rd to the west is an embankment on a level with the second 

story and a door leads from the hall to ·a wide porch over this. 

"Large and pleasant chambers are on the second and third floors. Sixty 

years ago E. L. Reynolds, of Marysville, brought his young bride, nee Miss 

Mary Burnham, to his brother Ira's on their wedding trip, a large party of friends 

coming with them to attend the "infare", as wedding receptions were then called, 

remaining over night without any inconvenience to Mr. and Mrs. Reynolds, 

the host and hostess. 

"A reliable authority states that Mr. Runkle paid for the property just what 

the stone wall around the terraced grounds ct>st its original owner. After the 

death of Mr. Runkle it came into the possession of W.R. Fisher and for a quarter 

of a century it was the home of himself and family. About a year ago Mr. 0. P. 

Taylor, of Buffalo, bought the property from Mr. and Mrs. Harry Taylor of 

Detroit, the latter being the only child of Mr. and Mrs. Fisher. For a part of 

this summer the present owner and his wife have been having an extended 

picnic in it with friends from adjacent vicinities to share its hospitalities. It 

will probably ere long become their permanent home, as they are much attached 

to it and to the village in which they for many years resided. 

"Mr. L. D. Reynolds, of Reynolds & Reynolds Co., of Dayton, he being a son 

of Ira Reynolds, in kindly response to a request for items of interest, writes: 

'I recollect distinctly of being about the building while it was being erected. 

In those days we did not have lath as we do now. They were cut from thin 

hoards with a gauge and I can in my n1ind's eye see the carpenter running 

along his bench cutting then1 out.' And he remembers going to the house after 

the Michigan soldiers had quitted it and finding a partially roasted goose in th~ 

wash-house next to the well, which room is today in as good condition as it was 

at that time. 



"'In its arrangements the house stands, with but slight modifications, just 

as its founder had it constructed. So durable is its masonry that it bids fair to 

outlive a century mark. 

"Joy and sorrow, happiness and trouble, prosperity and adversity, have come 

in turn to the families who in line have lived in the Reynolds home, the 

tragedy of birth has been witnessed and welcomed, marriage feasts have been 

kept there, funeral processions have gone out from its doors. The house has 

for over three score years had its history. Who can tell what chapters may he 

added in the years to come." 

The unknown author of 1905 predicted correctly, for the old house has 

passed the century mark and still shows few signs of deterioration. It is now 

known as the Solomonson Rest Home, being owned and operated by a family 

of that name. On November 27, 1948, I drove up to West Liberty to see the 

house and was most hospitably treated by J\,lr. and Mrs. Solomonson, who took 

me all over the house and grounds and were as much interested in its early 

history as I was to see the place. While perhaps not quite so magnificent as 

the glowing account of 1905 would lead one to believe, it was fully as spacious 
> 

and is a fitting monument to the creative genius of Ira Reynolds and to the 

sturdy construction of the times when it was built. 

Four more sons were horn to the Ira Reynolds family in West Liberty: Hiland 

Henry, Eugene, James Irwin (horn 1846), and Leander Lewis. There were also 

two more sons who died in infancy. Both were named Dwight, hut the date 

and place of their birth is not known. 

It would appear that Ira suffered a serious business reverse about 1848m49. As 

already mentioned, he sold the home to R. E. Runkle ''for just what the stone 

wall around the terraced grounds cost." He also sold the Giraffe Building to the 

same Mr. Runkle, and I was able to learn the selling price of this property from 



the original deed, recorded in the Logan County Court House in Bellefontaine. 

The transfer was made on January 27, 1849 for the sum of Twenty-two Hundred 

and Seventy-six Dollars. 

At any rate, the family moved in 1849 or 1850 to the town of Republic in Seneca 

County, Ohio. Here, on March 12, 1852, Harriet died while in her thirty-sixth 

year. The untimely death of the young wife and mother forced Ira to break up 

his home, as he was unable, by himself, to take proper care of his five young 

sons. Grandfather states in his biography that he and two brothers, Henry and 

Eugene, were sent to school at Geneva Hall near Belle£ ontaine. James and Le­

ander went to live with their mother's sister at DeGraf, Ohio - a Mrs. Mitchell, 

whose husband was a grain merchant. 

Of Ira himself I have been unable to find any further record until 1867, when 

he came to Dayton and bought James Gardner's interest in the newly established 

printing house of Gardner & Reynolds. The firm was thereafter known as Rey­

nolds & Reynolds, a partnership of Ira and L. D. Reynolds. 

Ira, like his father Elisha, was gifted with considerable imagination and in­

ventive ability. His first big contribution to the success of Reynolds & Reynolds 

was his invention, in 1869, of the duplicate sales hook cover. When this patent 

was later sold to The American Sales Book Co., he invented a variation known 

as the Reynolds Duplicating Order Book which was one of the company's leading 

products for many years. 

For nine years Ira lived with the L. D. Reynolds family in Dayton. Then for 

a year he resided in New York City, probably for the purpose of expanding the 

company's business in the eastern markets. His health began failing about this 

tin1e. He returned to Dayton and for a short time lived at the old Schieble House 

on East Second Street; but early in 1869 he was forced to resign all active duties 

and went hack to the scene of his boyhood in Union County. He made his home 

with his sister, Hilah Reynolds Woodworth, whose husband's farm included 



part of the original Reynolds grant, between Irwin and the former town of 

Homer. Here on November 24, 1880 he died at the age of seventy-three years. 

Except for Grand£ ather and James, I have been able to learn but verv little 

regarding Ira's children. Henry married Jennie Davis of Jeffersonville, Ind., 

moved west and spent his late years at San Jose, Calif. Eugene did not marry 

and was killed in the Civil War at the Battle of South Mountain. A.11 I have 

learned about Leander Lewis is that he died in 1874. 

James married Julia Elvira Reeves in 1870 and became a prominent merchant 
., 

and manufacturer in Kansas City. He died there in 1905. Grandfather made a 

practice of stopping off to visit his brother's family each summer en route from 

Dayton to the Colorado ranch; I well remember two such visits as a boy when 

our family accompanied our grandparents. A son, Rev. Charles Lee Reynolds, 

who now resides in Newark, N. J., has been of material assistance in this work. 

Personal recollections of Charles E. Moran 
Letters and data received from Rev. Charles Lee Reynolds 
Zane-Reynolds-Parrott Scrap Book, DPL {being processed in 1948} 
Chapman Genealogy 
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Grandfather Reynolds was born in Homer, Union County, Ohio, on September 

30, 1835. He was the eldest son of Ira and Harriet Chapman Reynolds. He wai; 

born in that short period of prosperity which Homer enjoyed immediately 

after its 'founding by Elisha Reynolds, assisted by his two sons Ira and lmmer. 

In 1838, Ira Reynolds decided to seek his fortune independently and m.oved 

his family to West Liberty, where for a time he was a successful dry goods mer­

chant. About 1850 he moved again, this time to the town of Republic in Seneca 

County, Ohio. It was here that Harriet, the young mother, died. Records vary 

as to the date of her death. The Upson and Chapman Genealogies give it as 1860, 

hut I believe this to he in error. In Grandfather's biography in Drury's HISTOR)~ 

OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY it is given as 1852. This is confirmed in the 

biography of his brother James I. Reynolds in Mrs. Carrie W. Whitney's HIS­

TORY OF KANSAS CITY, MO., where the exact date is given: March 12, 1852. 

My further reason for adhering to the earlier date, 1852, is that in his biography 

Grandfather goes on to s.ay that following his mother's death his father placed 

him and two of his brothers, presumhly ''Hile" and Eugene, in school at Geneva, 

near Belle£ ontaine. This would not have been possible had his mother lived 

until 1860, as by that time Grandfather was married, had a two-year-old son 

( Lewis G. Reynolds) and was in the newspaper business in Bellefontaine. 

Adhering then to the dates in his biography, Grand£ ather went to Belle£ ontaine 

in 1854 as a freight clerk for the old Bee Line, now a part of the New York 

Central System. 



On September 27, 1857, he married Sophia Trask Gardner, a daughter of 

General Isaac S. Gardner, one of Bellefontaine's most prominent and respected 

citizens, and Eliza Read Gardner, the vivacious and socially prominent heiress 

to the traditions of the Zanes, the Reads and that great Indian chief, Tar-he', 

Grandmother was born in Bellefontaine, January 16, 1837. She was named for 

her mother's elder sister, Sophia Read Trask. 

Early in 1859 grand£ ather became associated with the Bellefontaine Republi­

can,. one of the early organs of the new Republican party. Shortly afterwards he 

became sole owner and manager of that ~truggling sheet, acting as editor, type­

setter, pressman and delivery hoy. Publishing a country newspaper did not 

prove a very profitable venture, however, so when the Republican party came 

into power with the election of Abraham Lincoln in 1860, he secured an ap­

pointment in the U. S. Treasury Department in Washington. Here he remained 

with his young family until 1866, by which thne he had advanced to the position 

of Chief Clerk in the Registrar's Office. 

After again residing a short while in Belle£ ontaine, grand£ ather brought his 

family to Dayton in August, 1866. Their first home was at 240 W. Fifth Street. 

SOPHIA GARONER REYNOLDS 



With his brother-in-law, James R. Gardner, he started a printing shop in the old 

engine house which then stood in the rear of Turner's Opera House, on the site 

of the present Victory Theater. This firm, kno-lvn as Gardner & Reynolds, was 

the fore-runner of the Reynolds & Reynolds Co. 

The following year James Gardner sold his interest to grandfather's father, 

Ira Reynolds. The name was then changed to Reynolds & Reynolds and the 

shop was moved to larger quarters in the W ollaston, or Osceola, Mill where 

East Fifth Street crossed the old canal. 

Meanwhile, four children were growing up in the Reynolds home. Lewis 

Gardner, the eldest, was born in Bellefontaine, June 28, 1858. Annie Eliza was 

also born in Belle£ ontaine, December 7, 1860. _ The two younger children were 

horn in Dayton: Edwin Stanton on October 17, 1869, and Sophie Adele on 

November 16, 1883. During this time the family ho1ne was moved several times: 

in 1875 to 367 West First Street; in 1877 to the west side of Wilkinson Street 

between First and Monument, then known as Water Street; in 1880 to 375 West 

First Street, and finally, about two years later, to 519 West Second Street where 

they remained until after grandmother's death in 1906. This was a lot of moving 

for a while, but probably reflected the gro-wth of Reynolds & Reynolds and 

grandfather's consequent ability to maintain his family in more pretentious 

quarters. 

Another son, Harry Chapman, was born in 1867 and died in infancy. 

From 1867 through 1875 Ira Reynolds, who by then was a widower, made his 

home with the L. D. Reynolds family. 

Ira died in 1880 and for some years grandfather carried on as the sole owner 

of Reynolds & Reynolds, though in 1877 his eldest son, Le·w, had entered his 

father's employ as a clerk, after finishing school. He continued with the company 



until the early nineties, at which time with grandfather's assistance he organized 

a firm which eventually was called The Reynolds Aertite Carton Co. 

On April 8, 1886, Annie (my mother) married Robert Lewis Hughes, who came 

into Reynolds & Reynolds as its Secretary, and was sent shortly thereafter to 

Denver, Colorado, to study the advisability of moving the plant to that city, 

or at least opening a branch there. This was due to the large proportion of 

the company's business done on the Pacific coast. This plan never material­

ized, but while in Denver grandfather and father each "proved-up" a home­

site on government land near Hilltop, abont thirty miles south of Denver. This 

purchase had a profound influence on the later lives of my grandparents. After 

it was decided to retain the factory in Dayton, grandfather bought father's 

acreage, which adjoined his own. He and grandmother established the "Ranch" 

as their summer home and spent four months there every year, except two, for 

the rest of their lives, - usually with some of the children and grandchildren. 

In 1889 The Reynolds & Reynolds Co. was incorporated, with grandfather 

as President and Board Chairman, positions which he retained for the remainder 

of his life. He also was one of the incorporators of The Dayton Savings & Trust 

Co., and became its First Vice-President. Son1e years later he helped to organize 

The Dayton & Northern Traction Co., which ran for a time from Dayton to 

Greenville and Union City. He also was a Director in The Reynolds Aertite 

Carton Co., operated by Uncle Lew, and The Dayton Fibre Plaster Co., operated 

by John E. Parrott, after his marriage to Aunt Adele. 

Grandfather was born into the Presbyterian Church, but after his marriage 

he affiliated with tl1e Methodist Episcopal Church, to which grandmother and 

her family all belonged. For many years he was one of the most active members 

of old Grace Church, which was then located at the south-east corner of Fourth 

and Ludlow Streets where the Keith Theater building now stands. He is best 



remembered as Superintendent of its Sunday School, which position he filled 

for ten years, from 1892 until 1902. After completing this tern1 of service he 

remained as a Deacon for some years longer. During the summer months l1e 

was equally active in the little church at Hilltop, Colorado. In fact, the itiner­

ate preachers who conducted the services there counted on grandfather for 

their stipend as well as their Sunday dinner throughout his vacation period 

on the Ranch. 

Grandfather also served for a number of years as a Director of the Associated 

Charities. This was the predecessor of The Family Welfare Association, which is 

now called Family Service of Montgomery County, an affiliated agency of our 

Community Chest. 

During all this time, grandmother was equally prominent in social, cultural 

and religious activities. She served as President of the Women's Auxiliary of 

Grace Church, as a Trustee of the W. C. A., as Regent of the Jonathan Dayton 

Chapter of D.A.R., and as President of the Emerson Club, a literary society 

which held a prominent place in Dayton's cultural life of that period. The last 

two offices she held up to the time of her death, which occurred June 16, 1906. 

Shortly thereafter, grandfather sold the old homestead at 519 West Second 

Street and moved to Oakwood, wher~ Adele and John Parrott, then recently 

married, made their home with him. 

In his later years, grandfather's daily routine was as inflexible as it was 

noteworthy. After a leisurely breakfast, he was driven to the office, where· his 

sole activity in behalf of the operation of the business was to open the morning 

mail. This he divided impartially between father and Uncle Ed, until after 

father's illness, when Uncle Ed got it all, but only after grand£ ather had opened 

it. Then grand£ ather paced briskly back and forth through the stock room 

enough times to make a mile, by his calculation. Following this strenuous 



exercise he retired to the washroom; then, hack at his desk again, he wrote a 

few personal letters, always in long hand, to relatives and friends. It was now 

time to be driven to The Dayton Savings & Trust Co., where he and Ad Conover 

retired to the back room and decided the fate of the nation, or at least some 

of its local debtors. Then, home for lunch and an hour's nap, following which 

he drove hack to the factory to open the afternoon mail; and no matter what 

time this happened to he, the mail didn't get opened until he opened it. The 

day's work was now successfully accomplished, so he was ready for a little 

spin in the car, or a quiet game of cribbage in the hack bedroom, all other 
f 

games of chance being taboo because of his strict adherence to the Methodist 

creed. 

With the introduction of the automobile, grandfather became an ardent 

motoring fan. His first car was naturally a Stoddard-Dayton, not only because it 

was built in Dayton,. hut particularly because Uncle Ed's wife was John 

Stoddard's youngest daughter. In 1907 grandfather was driven from Dayton 

to Denver in his open-topped Stoddard-Dayton roadster by Edgar Edwards, 

chief tester for The Stoddard-Dayton Motor Car Co., no mean feat in those 

days of mud roads and pioneer cars for much younger men than grandfather. 

His passion for motoring finally led to his demise. Just a couple weeks before 

the great 1913 flood, he set out with his chauffeur to visit his Aunt Martha 

Winget, who still lived on one of the old family farms in Union County. A 

sudden blizzard overtook them, the car was stalled, and hef ore being rescued 

and pulled to warmth and safety grandfather caught a chill. This developed 

into pneumonia a11d he died two days later, on March 11, 1913. 

A.G. D1ttry's HISTORY OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY, 1906, DPL #977.173/D796 
Zane-Reynolds-Parrott Scrap Book, Dl'L {being processed in 1948) 
Woodland Cemetery Records 
Department of Health, City of Dayton, Bureait of Vital Statistics. 



THE REYNOLDS & REYNOLDS COMPANY 

No account of the Reynolds Family of Dayton would he complete without a 

short history of The Reynolds & Reynolds Company. Not only did the earnings 

of this company represent the principal income of four generations of our 

family, hut many of those four generations were, at one time or other, engaged 

in its active management. 

The birth of this firm dates hack to June I, 1866, when L. D. Reynolds and 

his brother-in-law, James R. Gardner, established a modest print shop in a 

vacated fire house hack of the old Turner ·opera House at First and Main Streets 

where the Victory Theater now stands. 

This parent firm was known as Gardner & Reynolds, hut the following year 

James Gardner sold his interest to L. D. Reynold's father, Ira Reynolds and the 

company name became Reynolds & Reynolds. At the same time, the plant was 

moved to Wollaston's Osceola Mill, where East Fifth Street then crossed the old 

Miami & Erie Canal. After about three years there, it was moved again for 

another short stay, into part of an old building on the site of the present Calla­

han Power Building. 

In 1869 Ira Reynolds invented the duplicate sales book cover. This gave the 

firm its first big impetus, though eventually, as a result of litigation, the rights 

to this original style of sales hook cover were sold to The American Sales Book 

Co., for a reputed sum . of $500.00. After this sale Reynolds & Reynolds con­

tinued to manufacture a modified form known as the Reynolds Duplicating 

Order Book. This was in addition to the job printing. Still later a line of writing 

tablets and school supplies was added. 

The business continued to grow; in fact its rapid expansion required another 

move to larger quarters in 1875, this time to the second floor of a building then 

standing on the north-east corner of Second and Jefferson Streets. Here it 

remained for eighteen years. With continually increasing business, however, 

it soon outgrew the second floor quarters and gradually took over the entire 

building. 
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Ira Reynolds died in 1880 and from then until the company was incorporated 

in 1889 L. D. Reynolds carried on as the sole owner, although with the assistance 

of his eldest son, Lewis G. Reynolds, and later his son-in-law, Robert L. Hughes. 

Lew entered his father's employ as a clerk in 1877 and the following year was 

made superintendent, which position he filled until the incorporation in 1889. 

R. L. Hughes joined the firm in 1886. At that time a large part of its product 

was being shipped to the west and it was planned to open up a branch factory 

in Denver, Colorado, with R. L. Hughes as manager. He and L. D. Reynolds 

spent considerable time in and around Denver in 1886-87, but finally dec~ded 

against the Denver branch plant. 

The company was incorporated in 1889 as The Reynolds & Reynolds Com-

pany. Its original officers were: 

President ___________________________________________________ L. D. Reynolds 

Vice President __________________________________________ Geo. W. Shaw 

Treasurer _________ ---------------------- ___________________ Geo. G. Shaw 

Secretary ___________________________________________________ R. L. Hughes 

General Manager _____________________________________ L. G. Reynolds 

In 1892 L. G. Reynolds severed his connection with the company, to organize 

a company for manufacturing waxed-paper boxes. This was originally called 

The Duckshack Co., later The Reynolds Aertite Carton Co. R. L. Hughes then 

became General Manager of The Reynolds & Reynolds Co., as well as its 

Secretary. 

The following year, 1893, it was again found necessary to expand the com­

pany's facilities and a move was made to the J. P. Wolf Power Building on 

East First Street. This building occupied part of the present site of The Delco 

Products Division of General Motors Corporation. Scarcely had this move been 

completed, however, when it was realized that this location, also, would soon 



be outgrown, and plans were begun for the erection of the first part of the 

company's present fine plant on Washington, Dudley and Germantown Streets. 

About this time, also, E. S. Reynolds completed his college education and 

eame into the company as its Treasurer, succeeding Geo. G. Shaw, who resigned 

to become head of The Dayton Paper Novelty Co. His father, Geo. "\\l. Shaw, 

continued, however, as Vice President, though inactive, until his death in 1907. 

The final move into the newly con1pleted factory building was made in 1898, 

and none too soon, for on February 1, 1900 the entire block ,vhich included 

the Wolf Building was completely destroyed in one of the most spectacular 
r, 

and damaging fires in the history of Dayton. Had The Reynolds & Reynolds 

Co. still been housed there, its subsequent history, at least for son1e years, 

might have been quite different from that of the continued progress which it 

enjoyed in its new plant. 

Throughout the Nineties and past the turn of the Century, the business 

continued on a generally profitable and growing basis. L. D. Reynolds, as 

President, continued his overall supervision of its policies. The division between 

the tablet and printing departments became more definitely recognized, with 

R. L. Hughes in charge of the former and E. S. Reynolds the latter. This 

division was also recognized in the set-up of the Sales Department. Tom 

Whitmore, Col. DeMuth and Jakie Loeb handled the Tablet sales, while the 

printing fell to Jack Chapman. 

During this period the company firmly established the policy of cooperation 

and loyalty between the management and employees which it still enjoys to 

the present day. There was little or no labor turnover, particularly in the more 

responsible jobs. As far back as I can remember in my early childhood up to 

the time I lost my intimate contact with the company in 1913, these positions 

were held by the same men. Arthur Stolz was the assistant superintendent, in 

charge of all operations in the tablet and ruling departments, with Charlie 

Wise as tablet foreman and Charley Meyers ruling foreman. Frank Lambing 



was foreman of the printing department. His "printers' devils" were Bernie 

O'Brien who later organized The O'Brien Printing Ink Co., and Harry Brelsford 

who is one of the few old-timers still in the company's employ. Chester Shroyer 
was in charge of storing and packing the products for shipment and Wm. Knuth 
was the Shipping Clerk. Wilshire Morton was janitor for many years. 

R. L. Hughes severed his connection with the company in 1908 at which time 

E. S. Reynolds was made Vice President and General Manager. Arthur Stolz 

was promoted to the office of Secretary. 

L. D. Reynolds died in the spring of 1913, and at the Board of Directors 
meeting on May 11th of that year, E. S. Reynolds was elected President and 
General Manager. Having had five years experience as Vice President and 
General Manager, E. S. Reynolds was well qualified to take over the Presi­

dency. Later events proved the wisdom of the Board of Directors, because 
the Company continued to grow year by year under his direction. 

Under the supervision of E. S. Reynolds, it was decided in 1926 to sell the 
Tablet Division to the Western Tablet Corporation for a good price. The Tablet 
Division, through the pressure of competition for a period of years prior to 
its sale, was lending little financial support to the organization. 

Another move which was directed by E. S. Reynolds, was the purchase 
of the assets and facilities of The Midwest Color and Offset Co., which 
facilities and equipment were transferred to The Reynolds & Reynolds Co. 

plant. An advertising literature and color offset department was then estab­
lished, and has proven to he a profitable part of the operation. 

No doubt, the greatest thing accomplished by E. S. Reynolds during his 
tenure of office, was started in 1927, when the Company began the produc­
tion and sale of Standard Systems and Forms to Chevrolet dealers. 

After the establishment and complete success of founding the Systems busi­
ness and after being sponsored by the General Motors Corporation, E. S. 
Reynolds died in the spring of 1935. At a Board meeting of May 11th of that 

year, E. S. Reynolds, Jr. was elected President. John W. Stoddard Reynolds, 
a brother of Edv1ard S. Reynolds, Jr., was employed by the Company from 

August 19, 1937 to December 31, 1948. 

E. S. Reynolds, Jr. resigned from the Presidency on November 3, 1937. 

At that time, he was succeeded by L. H. Forster, Noveinber 3, 1937 who had 
had considP-rable experience with The Reynolds & Reynolds Co. both in 
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the field and in the factory. After the resignation of L. H. Forster, April 20, 

1940 he was succeeded by John T. Bell, an old time employee, who was 

. Treasurer of the Company, and who had given to The Reynolds & ·Reynolds 

Co., a long faithful service. On January 4, 1941, he was succeeded as Presi­

dent by R. H. Grant, Jr. 

The ownership of The Reynolds & Reynolds Co. has passed out of the 

Reynolds Family, but it is in capable, worthy, and friendly hands in the 

Grant Family. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, is· Richard Hallam 

Grant, a former Vice President of General Motors Corporation and today 

a Director of that Corporation, and one of Dayton's most outstanding citizens. 

Until his recent retire:ment, he was recognized as the top sales executive of the 

General Motors Corporation, and one of the nation's leading authorities on 
sales management. 

The Presidency of the Company is capably filled by his son, as stated above, 

Richard H. Grant, Jr. The Vice President and General Manager is Frank F. 

Pfeiffer, who grew up in the business during the administration of E. S. Rey­

nolds, and has carried on under the present ownership. 

In the ten years since the Grants assumed control of the company they have 

more than doubled the volume of its business. It is today the world's largest 

manufacturer of standard accounting forms, and also one of the world's lar.gest 

commercial printing establishments. 



THE WITTER FAM I LY 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 0 • • • 

William Witter landed in America from England in 1640 and settled in 

Lynn, Massachusetts. He was accompanied by his family, including the widow 

and two children of a son William who died on the passage over. He was 

associated with Obadiah Holmes, John Clark and Crandall, who met at his 

home to hold religious services. His descendants were numerous and scattered 

over the New England states. Our branch of his family descends from his 

second son, Josiah. 

Josiah had a son Ebenezer. 

Ebenezer's son Joseph settled with his family on the Susquehanna River in 

northern Pennsylvania. They were thrice driven from their home by Indians 

and the houses burned, but each time the entire family escaped without injury. 

Joseph's son Elijah continued in Pennsylvania until after his marriage and 

birth of at least two children: Mary in 1781 and David in 1786. His wife was 

named Elizabeth, hut there is no mention of her family name. About 1800 the 

family moved to Ontario County, New York, near the present city of Geneva. 

There they became extremely prosperous. Mary married Elisha Reynolds. Their 

subsequent history is recorded in Chapter I, Section 2. 

David Witter followed Elisha and Mary Reynolds to Union County, Ohio, about 

1814. Perhaps he accompanied them. He settled in Marysville, Ohio, and erected 

the American Hotel building in 1829. 

..Hi&tory of Union County," 1883, DPL #977,15:t/H673 
Parl 'Y, pp., 11 and 216. 



THE CHAPMAN - UPSON FAMILY 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . ' . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Positive information regarding our branch of the Chapman family begins with 

Rev. Benjamin Chapman. Attempts to fix the exact time and place of his hir~h 

have proved unavailing, but it was probably about 1724-26, somewhere in New 

England. It seems likely he may have been of the family of Samuel Chapman (see 

Chapman Genealogy P. 269). On January 8, 1756, Rev. Benjamin married Abigail 

Riggs of Derby, Conn., whose mother also was named Abigail. Rev. Benjamin 

probably served for a time as a Chaplain in the Revolutionary War. He died 

June 22, 1786. The church record lists his age as 61, hut his tombstone has it as 

60, which accounts for the uncertainty of his year of birth, mentioned above. 

Rev. Benjamin and Abigail Chapman had eight children, of whom the fifth 

was a son Benjamin. He was born, probably at Derby, on February 26, 1763. He 

was living at Blandford, Mass. at the time of the Revolution. He served six 

months or longer in this war, as attested by the fact that his name is listed among 

those paid hy the town of Bland£ ord for services in 1780. He was first married to 

Polly Cook, on November 23, 1786. She died without children at the age of 

twenty, on July 2, 1789. 

On September 25, 1792, he married Sylvia Upson. She was the daughter of 

John and Lois Atwater Upson of Southington and was born there on October 

12,, 1773. John Upson's ancestry, entitled "The Upson Family in America", was 

published in New Haven, Conn. in 1940 by the Upson Family Association. 



Thomas Upson came to America in the middle of the seventeenth century. 

Stephen Upson, his son, had a son John, who was the father of John Upson first 

mentioned above. 

Lois Atwater was the daughter of Stephen and Harriet (Hotchkiss) Atwater 

and was born in Cheshire, September 17, 17 4 7. She and John Upson were 

married in Cheshire, December 15, 1768. She died in Worthington, Ohio, 

February 17, 1826, and is buried there in St. John's Episcopal Churchyard. 

Benjamin and Sylvia Upson Chapman f,lived in Blandford until 1802, when, 

along with the Upson family, they removed to Franklin County, Ohio, and located 

about three miles north of the present town of Worthington, on the west bank of 

the Olen tangy River. Benjamin became prominently identified with the Pres­

byterian Church of Worthington and was its first ruling elder. Sylvia died in 

Worthington, March 7, 1823; Benjamin exactly one year later, on March 7, 1824 

They had nine children, of whom Harriet was the youngest. She was horn in 

Worthington, October 31, 1816. As has already been recorded in Chapter 1, she 

married Ira Reynolds on March 14, 1833. 

"Ecclesiastical and Other Sketches of Southington, Connecticut · p., 43-45 
by Rev. H. R. Timlow, Hartford, Conn., 1875. 
Extracts mailed by Springfield Public Library to Wm. ] • Hamilton, 1948. 

''History of Franklin & Pickaway Counties" DPL #R/977.156/H673. 
'The Upson Family in America" published by the Upson Family Association, 

New Haven, Conn., 1940. 
'The Atwater History and Genealogy" 1901. 
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THE GARDNER-SKILES FAMILY 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Both the Gardner and Skiles families appear to have been settled in Virginia 

prior to the War of Independence. 

The earliest authenic data I have been able to locate shows that Andrew 

Gardner was horn in Virginia in 1779. About 1800 he married Isahella Skiles, 

who was three years his junior. This venerable couple both lived until 1863. Both 

passed away in that year, he at the age of 84 and she at 81. Thus their lives 

spanned the entire period fron1 the birth of our nation until the tragedy of the 

Civil War. 

Their son Isaac Skiles Gardner was horn at the family homestead near Romney, 

Virginia, on November 11, 1807. In early manhood he went to live in Uniontown, 

Pennsylvania, with his uncle Isaac Skiles, for whom he was named. 

In May of 1830, at the age of twenty-three, he joined a group of Uniontown 

business men who had obtained a tract of land in Logan County, Ohio. The 

capital seat of Bellefontaine at the time of their arrival was a town of some 400 

inhabitants. Isaac opened a dry goods store soon after his arrival, a business 

which continued to he his principal occupation for sixty-one years thereafter. 

One of his earliest acquaintances after arriving in Bellefontaine was Noah 

Zane McColloch (son of Nancy Zane and William McColloch). Shortly there­

after, Isaac was introduced to Noah's cousin Eliza Read. In later years, he often 



related the story of their first meeting and rapid courtship. They met just as 

she was· alighting from the stage coach which brought her home from school at 

Erie, Pennsylvania. He happened to be with Noah McColloch when the stage 

arrived. Being greatly attracted by the very dashing young girl who stepped 

out, he asked McColloch who she was. Upon learning that she was his cousin 

Eliza Read, he asked to he introduced, and after she had left them he exclaimed, 

"Noah, I'm going to marry that girl." His prediction was correct, as they were 

married within the year, - on July 28, 1831. 

Eliza Farrow Read, his bride, was the daughter of Elizabeth Zane and James 
f, 

Manning Read. She was horn in Bellefontaine on August 11, 1813. 

The Gardner dry goods business was successful from the outset. By 1852 it 

had so greatly expanded that a three story brick building was constructed 

exclusively for its occupancy. That building, as well as the old Gardner home­

stead on the block behind it, is still standing. They are both now surrounded 

by railroad tracks which came to Bellefontaine in later years and thus have 

fallen into decay with the decline of the neighborhood. 

Isaac Gardner had become one of the most influential and respected citizens 

of Bellefontaine. About this time he was appointed General of the Ohio State 

Militia and drilled regiments in Kenton as well as Bellefontaine. Later, be­

ginning in 1872, he served one term as State Senator, but declined re-election 

because of the press of other duties. He became one of the organizers and 

Directors of The Mad River Railroad and of the Bellefontaine & Indiana 

Railroad, which he was instrumental in pushing through to Cleveland. Both 

these lines later formed part of the old Big Four Railroad, which is now a 

unit of the New York Central System. 

Both General Gardner and his wife were leaders in the cultural, social and 

religious life of their community, most particularly in the activities of the 

Methodist Episcopal Church, of which both were life-long members. General 

Gardner served for many years as a member of its official Board. On the occasion 



of his eightieth birthday, Noven1ber 11, 1887, a church and community celebra­

tion was held in his honor at the home of his son-in-law, Gen. Robert P. Kennedy. 

This was attended by church and civil dignitaries and appropriate Resolutions 

tendered him, copies of which are still contained in the files of The Dayton 

Public Library. 

After sixty-one happy years of 1na:r;ried life, Eliza passed away on January 

16, 1892. Isaac survived until the end of the following year. He died on December 

] 6, 1893 at the venerable age of eighty-six years. 

Nine children were horn of this union, seven of whom attained maturity. 

The eldest was a daughter, Elizabeth, horn May 13, 1832. She died on June 

19, 1838, at the age of six. 

The second child, Isabelle, was horn July 7, 1834. Aunt Belle married Holden 

Snell April 6, 1853 and for many years made her ho1ne in Madison, Wisconsin. 

Her husband became a leading business man of that city. He died in 1905, 

aged 79 years. Aunt Belle was still in good health when I attended the Uni­

versity of Wisconsin, 1909-1913, and I spent many happy hours and enjoyed 

many a good dinner in her hon1e. Her children also lived in Madison at that 

time: Margaret, horn January 10, 1854, married William Parsons and had 

three daughters, Claire, Carroll and Isabelle; Gardner, horn July 27, 1856, 

married Nannie Warren and had three children, Holden, Florence and Warren; 

James Willard and Natalie who did not marry, and Jay Holden who married 

hut had no children. A.unt Belle was eighty-six at the time of her death. 

Grandmother Reynolds, the third child, horn January 16, 1837, was christened 

Sophia Trask after her aunt, Sophia Read Trask. 

Robert Skiles, the fourth child and eldest son, born in 1838, married Alice 

Spates of Clarksburg, W. Va. He served in the Civil War, rising to the rank 

of Major. His assistant, during n1ost of his tern1 of service, was William 

McKinley, later President of The United States. After the war, Major Gardner 

moved to Clarksburg, where he lived the rest of his life. Children were: Robert 



Skiles, Jr., born Feb. 24, 1866, Delmar Spates, born Feb. 18, 1868 and Stanley 

Matthews, horn Mar. 17, 1872. 

James Read married Julia Lamb. In 1866 he joined with Grand£ ather 

Reynolds in establishing the forerunner of The Reynolds & Reynolds Co., in 

Dayton, hut sold his interest the following year to Ira Reynolds and returned 

for some years to Belle£ ontaine. Later he removed his family to Wheeling, W. Va. 

Children: Amelia, horn Dec. 13, 187 4; James L., horn Jan. 10, 1882 ; Mary B., 

born Sept. 28, 1885; and Isaac S., horn Jan. 25, 1888. 

Maria Lewis, "Aunt Sissy'\ was horn February 10, 1844. On December 29, 1862 
f, 

she married Gen. Robert P. Kennedy. Uncle Bob had a distinguished career 

during the Civil War, rising to the position of one of the youngest general 

officers in the Union Army. During this conflict he became intimately associated 
1 

with William McKinley, who was to become President of the United States. 

Gen. Kennedy was prominent as an attorney, author and later the representa­

tive of his district in Congress. Aunt Sissy and Uncle Bob had five children: 

Carrie Crook, horn October 23, 1863; William Craig and Isaac Gardner, twins, 

horn April 24, 1868; Dade, horn January 6, 1871; Charles Gale, "Tad",_ horn 

April 4, 1873. All have passed away except Dade, who never married and still 

lives in Bellefontaine. She is as young, peppy and charming as a school girl; 

and has been of great assistance in collecting and editing data on the Gardner 

branch of our family. Aunt Sissy was never blessed with rugged health, and 

died in 1892, at the age of only forty-nine years. Later Gen. Kennedy married 

Mrs. Emma (Cowgill) Mendenhall. 

Sarah Elizabeth, horn March 19, 1846, married Joseph S. Harris, on May 3, 

1864. They had one child, Charles Gardner Harris, who married Lena Morton 

and lived in Dayton in the nineties, hut none of their family remain here at 

present. 

Isaac Lycurgus was horn August 24, 1848 and died in 1851. 

Margaret Read was born April 29, 1851. She married Asher Letson of Kenton, 

Ohio, on March 21, 1872. Mr. Letson became one of Kenton's most influential 



and wealthy citizens. One of his principal activities w·as a large foundry which 

produced iron toys, particularly toy trains and fire engines. There were two 

daughters: Frances, horn in November, 1873, who. married Richard Wester­

field and had two sons, Asher and Richard; and Imogene5 born in January, 

1879, who married a Liggett and moved East. 

Personal recollections of Dade Kennedy. 
Tombstones in Belief ontaine Cemetery. 
"Seth Read, His Ancestors and Descendants" by Mary Hunter Buford. 

Loaned to The Dayton Public Library by The W1 isconsin Historical Library, 
Zane-Reynolds-Parrott Scrap Book. 



THE READ FAMILY 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

The genealogy of the family of Read, which includes the Reeds, Reids, Redes, 

etc., has been traced most diligently by J a~oh Whittemore Reed in his "HIS­

TORY OF THE REED FAMILY IN EUROPE AND AMERICA." The branches 

of the family from which Grandmother Reynolds is descended are also recorded 

in "Seth Read, His Ancestors and Descendents", written and published in 1895 by 

his great granddaughter Mrs. Mary Hunter Buford. 

About 500 B. C., a company of merchants from cities of Ionia fitted out an 

expedition against Ireland, which they conquered and divided into two king­

doms. The capital of one was named Ballyreda in the country of Westmeath; 

its English translation means Reedstown. The invaders were called Dalredas 

or Dalraids. 

The Dalraids crossed over from Ireland to Caledonia. In order to keep them 

back, the Romans built "Agricola's Wall" from the Firth of Forth to the Clyde. 

This was captured in 180 A. D. by Prince Reda and the Romans built what was 

termed "Adrian's Wall" from New Castle to Carlisle about 210 A. D. The 

Dalraids retained possession of the territory between the two walls and about 

843 A. D. conquered all of Caledonia. The Reads, or Reeds, of England descend 

from these Dalraids or Reedhas. 

One branch of the Tyne is called the Reed, and the valley through which it 

flows, Redesdale. On the edge of Carterfell, a mountain between England and 

Scotland, is Reed's Square, an old fort or castle named for Sir Reginal Reed, 



who was distinguished in border wars. Following the stream down, there are 

ruins of several other Reed castles or forts, and some splendid castles still 

occupied by Reeds. The present Barony of Redesdale comprises the territory 

between the two Roman walls; Mitford being the current fa1nily name of the 

descendants of Robert of Redesdale. On the banks of the River Reed a bas-relief 

of this Baron Robert is cut in solid rock. He lived in the 15th century and was 

associated with Warwick. He fought and conquered the Earl of Pembroke in 

1470. He took the name of Mitford from a ford near his castle in order to 

distinguish himself from another Robert Reed. 

The Reeds, or Reads, are numerous, the name having descended from a· 

clan and not from an individual. They became mixed with both the English and 

the Scotch and were connected with the royal family of England long before 

the days of William the Conqueror. The first mention of an individual named 

Rede is Withred, King of Kent in the 7th Century. Then Ethelred (meaning 

Reed the Good) was King of England in 866; Alfred, or Reed the Shrewd, in 

871; Eldred, or Reed the Elder, in 946; and Ethelred the Second, in 978. 

The Reeds were among the noble families of N orthumherland, Kent, Wessex 

and Mercia. Surnames were not used until about 1170. Clans had appropriate 

names which were retained by some individuals, others took such names as had 

reference to their location, occupation, peculiarity or achievement. 

The family of Read in the County of Kent held estates in the north of 

England and the south of Scotland, and nearly all the Reads who lived in or 

about London owned estates in Northumberland. One of the most important 

towns of the Barony of Redesdale is Morpeth, on the W ansback River. From 

here it is possible to trace a direct line of descent to the Reads who later came 

to America. The line runs as follows: 

1. There is a record of BRIANUS de REDE living in Morpeth in the year 

1139. He had three sons: Robert of Rede, William, and Thomas of Redydale. 



2. WILLI AM, the Ht~cond HOil of BriarnlH, lw«l one Hon, Hohcrt. 

3. HOBEHT, Hon of Williaru, hac1 one Hon, GalfrinuH. 

'1,. GALFHINlJS, HOil of Hohcrl, had three HOnH: Williu111, Hobert and ThornaH 

of Hc~«lyclalc. 

5. TH.OMAS of HEDY.llAl__jE, Hon of GalfrinnH, ha(I two HonH: GalfrinuH and 

ThonutH. 

6. THOMAS, HOil of rrlHnnaH of Hedydalc, owned an CHlutc at llcddington 

ancl n1arried ChriHt:iana, clau~htcr of Hoherl JanicH Lapolc und HiHlcr of Michael 

de la Pole, Earl of Suffolk, the Lord Chancellor of Hicluu·d IL In :t:188, when 

Suffolk fled to France, ruuch of hiH prop;~rty }HtH8cd into the harHIH of hh, 

brother-in-law, inHtcad of into the puhlic treaHury. ThouwH arul ChriHl.iana had 

one Hon, Joint, who was Mayor of :Norwich. 

7. JOIIN, son of ThontaH anil Chri1-1tiana, had one son, Edward. 

H. EDW AlfD, Hon of John, nun-ric•I IMio(l Stanley. They ha«J four HOHH: John, 

Bartholo1ncw, who hccarnc Mayor of Lon◄lon, Hol.crt who waH Lord Chief 

JuHtice of the King's Bench, ancl Willian1 who waH a Profcs1-1or of ])ivinit.y. 

9. WlLLIAM HEADE, S. T. P., Hon of Edwartl and lsiod, had one Hon, Sir 

W illia1n. 

10. SIH WILLIAM HEADE, Hon of Willian,, 111a1Tic,I Ann McniH, arul I.hey hatl 

one son, Williarn. 

IL WILLIAM HEADE, Hon of Sir Willia111 an(l Aun, n1arric(I hi1-1 cotu4in, 

Hcl,ccca Mc11i1-1. Their dtilclrcn were Matthew, John, Hichanl, Tho111a1-1, Wi.lliau1 

and [-'ucy. 

12. MATTllEW HEADE, Ei-H[., 1-1011 of Williarn and Hchccca, ruarric«l Alice 

Wanl. They laad a HOil W illiarn atHl two dauµ;hter1-1, one of who111 nrnn·ic•l Sir 

IIcnry Oxindcn of Dene; I he other, Elizahcth, tnarriccl l\'lontcc~ Dix well, EA(f., 
~- •• J/" • 

01 oroouw, i'\.CiH. 

liL WILLIAM HEADE, HOii of Ma1tlac~w ancl Alice, 111arricd Lucy llcnaµ;c. 

They ha,1 two HOIIH, John a11cl Willia1n. Both c·anH· lo Anacrica i11 16:lo.· 

1'1,. JOHN HEAD of Hc·hohoth, Hon of Willia,n arul Lucy, wa1-1 l,orn in l59B. 

The firHt that iH known of laint, aflc~r hi1-1 arrival in AnH'rica, wa1-1 in Wcyn1out.h, 



MaHH. in ·16:J7. lie went to Dorch«~Htcr, MaHH., in 16:Ja, and fro111 there to Brainln~c 

(uow ().uin(~}', MaHH.). In 16,'I.:~ or 16'14, he~ wc·nl. to H••ltohoth, MaHH. lliH IUllllC iH 

1hc third 011 lhc liHl of purcharicrH of propc·rty in that lowrn-lhip. lie waH a ni.111 

of large propc~rty for tltc 1i11wH an ◄ I held the offiC'c~ of conHtahlc~, whi .. h wm; 

tlwn the chief cxccutiv«~ office of a town. Many of hiH d«~HccnclantH arc Htill 

livi11g within the lunutclH of A11cic~11t Hchohoth, which then indu«lc,I At.tlc-

1,orough, Seekonk, Pawtucket, Swa11t-1ca, Barrinµ;ton ancl CuruhcrlancL llc clicCI 

Scpl.cnalwr 7, 1685, agccl 87, ancl hiH µ;ravt~Hlorw iH 1-1ti II Htanclinµ in Seekonk olcl 

hurying grouncl. lliH wif,~'H 11a11u~ waH Sarah. Their d1ilclrc~n w«~rc: Sn11111el, 

Willian,, Ahigail, John, Tho111aH, Ezekic~I ancl Zackariah (twint-1), Mot-1,~1-1, Mary, 

Elizalwth, J)anicl, li;rael, ~ulfl Mc~hitahlc•. 

15. SA MlJl~L H 11:AD, HOil of John aucl Sarah Hc·iul of Hchol.oth, 111ovccl t.o Men-

don, Ma1-1H., a1ul wa1-1 co111-1tahlc~ lhcrc~ in 16HI. Hc~ 111arric-cl llopt~1-11ill llold,rook in 

166H; waH rnadc, frcc11rn11 ()ctolwr 15, 167:t Their d1ilcln·n w«~n~: M:ary (who 

nian·iecl Seth Chapin M·ay 20, I 6B9 ), Sarnucl, Ehcnc1.,~r, .lohn, Su rah ( who 

nuu-dcd a M1n·clock April 12, 1727) urul Jc,1-1iah. lli1-1 wife clic~d January 12, 1706; 

hiH scco1ul wifc'z.~ 1ua111c waH Hanrrnh. 

16. SAMlJEL HEAD, Aon of Sn111ucl ancl llopc:-1till of Mc•rulon, 111nrricd 

Dchorah. Thci r chi lcl n~n wc·rc: Mu ry. horn A UAt.11-11. 11, 169,1,; Dc•hora h, horn 

January 25, I 696; 11·opct-1I i II, horn A pri I I, 169H. l)c~horah lrnvin~ ,lice I, San1ucl 

rnarriccl Ahi~aiJ Whil.c 011 January 7, 1704. Their chilclr«~n were: Joint, horu 

Dec., 170'1,; AhiAail, wlto cliccl in infancy; Sa11111cl, horn June 7, 1707; Elwnczc1·, 

horn AuguHI: H, 1709; Da11icl, horn t)dolwr 29, 1712; Al,iµ;ail, horn Dccc111hc~r 

2:~, 1710; Tho111a1-1, horn Novc111 hc~r 211,, 17 l;i; Sarah, horn F«·hn1a 1·y l 0, 1717; 

Ha1n1ah, horn June 11, 17211.. Saruuc~I clic·cl Fchruary 111,, 1725, iu ti.at p.trl of 

Mcrulo11 aftcrwanlr-i H«~I. ol'f aH llxl,riclgc. lliH c1-1lal«·~ apprai~.u•.I HI :t)4>B9 poundH, 

11 Hhilli11gH, B pc~, .. ~c~, waH Haicl to i1wluclc· one-half IIH~ land in llxhriclgc a1ul 

Nori hhri«lgc~. 

17. JOIIN HEAi>, HOii of Sauuacl and Ahi~ail, waH (·allc•cl Lic•ulc•1rn11t HcacL 

lwv inµ; 1-wrvc,I in tlw Frc•11c-la and lrul i a11 \Var in I 7fi<>. II iH w i fc "1-1 rw 11w w ar-i Lu('y. 



They lived in Uxbridge and had six children: Sarah, born October 24, 1729 

( married Josiah Ada1ns, December 27, 1750) ; Joseph, born March 6, 1732; 

Peter, born November 13, 1735; John, horn June, 1743; Seth, born l\farch 6, 

1746; Josiah, born July 23, 1753. Lieutenant John Read died at Uxbridge, 

January 18, 1771. 

18. SETH READ, son of Lt. John and Lucy Read, horn at Uxbridge, March 6, 

17 46, married Hannah Harwood. Their children were: J a1nes Manning, born 

January 6, 1770; Charles John, born September 26, 1773; Rufus Seth, born 

October 16, 1775; Sally Adams, born November 1, 1777; Henry Joseph, born 
f, 

December 20, 1779; George Washington, born March 24, 1782; Mary (Polly), 

born April 19, 1784. Because of his illustrious career as an officer in the Revo­

lution and later as the founder of Erie, Pennsylvania, a separate chapter on 

his life and deed follows this genealogy. He died at Walnut Creek Farm, Erie, 

Pa., March 19, 1797. His wife, Hannah, died at Erie, December 8, 1821. 

19. JAMES MANNING READ, son of Seth and Hannah Harwood Read, born 

at Uxbridge, Mass., January 6, 1770, married (1st) Mary Logan about 1800 

near Green Bay, Wis. Children: James L. and Sophia P. Mary died about 1805 

and soon thereafter he married Elizabeth Zane, daughter of Isaac and Myeerah 

Zane. Their child-ren were: Seth, born in September, 1808, died March 3, 

1814; Eliza Farrow, born August 11, 1813; Isaac, horn March 13, 1815, died 

April 4, 1815; Alexander L., born March 3, 1816, died July 19, 1825; Duncan 

M., born September 28, 1818; Ebenezer Zane, born March 7, 1821. Elizabeth 

Zane Read died September 10, 1823. James Manning Read died at Bellefontaine, 

Ohio, May 5, 1847. 

Since this is a record of the Reynolds Family of Dayton, I shall not attempt 

to record all the descendants of James Manning Read. The complete genealogy 

of the Read Fan1ily up to 1890-95 is contained in Mrs. Mary Hunter Buford's 

excellent book SETH READ, HIS ANCESTORS and DESCENDANTS, pub­

lished in Boston in 1895. Copies of this hook are in The Library of Congress 

and The Wisconsin Historical Library, Madison, Wisconsin. The latter copy 



was very generously loaned for a short time to the Dayton Public Library and 

much of its contents copied verbatim in this chapter. The following references 

to three of James Manning Read's children include: Eliza Farrow, who was 

the mother of Sophia Gardner Reynolds, Sophia P ., for whom Grandmother was 

named, and Ebenezer Zane, who, along with his descendants, lived for many 

years adjacent to the Reynolds ranch in Hilltop, Colorado, and continued 

their close association with our family down to my generation. 

20. SOPHIA P. READ, daughter of James M. and Mary Logan Read, married 

Squire J. Trask., June 17, 1823. Grandmother Reynolds was named for her. 

20. ELIZA FARROW, daughter of James M. and Elizabeth Zane Read, born 

August 11., 1813, married Gen. Isaac Skiles Gardner July 28, 1831. Children: 

Elizabeth, horn May 13., 1832, died June 19, 1838; Isabelle, born July 7, 1834; 

Sophia Trask ( Grandmother Reynolds) born January 16, 1837; Robert Skiles, 

horn January 18, 1839; James Read, horn May 23, 1841; Maria Lewis, horn 

February 10, 1844; Sarah Elizabeth., horn Ma1·ch 19, 1846; Isaac Lycurgus, 

horn August 24, 1848., died 1851; Margaret Read, horn April 29, 1851. 

20. EBENEZER ZANE REED (note change in spelling), son of James M. 

and Elizabeth Zane Read, horn March 7, 1821, married Margaret Latlirop, 

March 21, 1848. Children: Sophia Gardner, horn February 21, 1849; Charles 

Manning, horn January 14, 1852, died February 9, 1853; Carrie E., born August 

15, 1854. Ebenezer Zane Reed died on the Quien Ranch near Hilltop, Colo., 

March 6, 1898. 

21. SOPHIA GARDNER REED, daughter of Ebenezer Z. and Margaret 

Lathrop Reed., horn February 21, 1849, n1arried William B. Quien December 

11, 1879. Children: Oscar Reed, born Sept. 20, 1880; Charles Branch, horn 

December 5, 1882; Levi Lathrop, born Dec. 12, 1885; Margaret Reed, born Jan. 

12, 1888. 
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SETH READ 

LT. COL. SETH READ 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

The sources of inforrnation conccrninµ; the short, hut l,ri llianl, career of Seth 

Read arc the Town HcconlA a,141 other puhlic docun1cnts of the places where he 

lived, the puhliHhcd accounts of the purchaHc and scttlcrnent of .ln(lian lands 

in western New York and Pentu,ylvania, and the MaHsachuseUs Stfflc Hecords 

of Military Service, all of which were vcrifi(~d hy M:rs. Buford. This hiography 

is an ahridgrnent of Chapter X of her very co111plc~lc- history of the Hca«I 

farnily, to which I have n1atlc 1ncntion ,~adicr. 

Horn in the town of {Jxhri(lw~, MasH., March 6, 1711,6, lo a fa1nily which for 

three gcncrationA had hccn one of the 111ost in1portant in that JHtrt of the 

state, we find hin1, while yet a young 1na11, cRlabliHhcd in ln1HincHH with hiR 

elder hrot.hcr, JoAeph, hoth of whon1, al the beginning of the lrouhlcs which 

led to the War of the Hevolution, w•·rc a111011~ tl1t· wc·ahhv and influential 

rnen of the connuunity. 



.An intcrcAting letter lo Mn~. Buford, fron1 one of the oldcAt inhabitants of 

Uxbridge then living ( 1895), tel h, of the ho11H~H I.he hrothcrH Juul huilt "a 

u1ilc and a half apart with the n1ccting houHc and village con1n1on ahout n1i<lway 

between." Hoth houses were then Hlaru1ing in good slate of preservation, hut 

nothing "rcnaainc•l, Aavc a nw1uory, of the cxl.cnHivc and hcautiful gardens which 

surrounded tlw1n and which we can well in1aginc were a source of pride and 

cnjoyn1ent to their young owners." 

That the stately old roo1ns were beautiful within, we know fron1 the n1any 

exquisite pieces of Chippendale and Sheraton still in possession of 1nc1nhers 

of the fa1nily, re1noved fro1n the Seth Head house after the fa1nily was estab­

lished in Eric. 

Joseph and Seth seen1 to have taken part in all puhlic rneetings and were 

a1nong the first to volunteer in the :Militia then f ornring throughout the colony 

of Massachusetts. When the critical hour ca1nc wit:h its call lo active service, 

Joseph was in co1nman•l of the 20th Hcgirncnt of Massachusetts Foot, while 
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Seth left home as Lieut. Colonel of the 26th Massachusetts Foot Regiment. He 

was then but twenty-nine years of age. 

The tenor of the citizens of Uxbridge, as the day of llevolution approached, 

as well as the prominence of Seth Read and hi8 brothers, is reflected in the 

Town Records. Under date of July 6, 1774, is found: 

"Art. 4. Voted to choose a con1n1ittec of nine of the inhabitants of this town: 

Samuel Read, Joshua \Vood, ]\loses Ta£ t, Seth Read, I etc.) to correspond with 

the committees that arc now or shall be chosen hy any of the Towns of this 

Province for that purpose or any Matters that may Respect the present Diffi­

cultys that now arc or n1ay Suhsist between Great Britton and North America, 

and Sd Committee shall stand till they he clis1nist by a Leagull Town Meeting of 

the inhabitants of the Town or hy others chosen in theor Rome and Stead, the 

Magorc Part to be a Quorun1." 

Also, Vol. I, Page 240, Town Record ()ct. ye 26, 177 4: 

"Art. 3. Voted to purchase one Field Piece, also voted to choose a co1nmittec 

of three men to provide S<l Peace and mount the san1c fit for use. 

''Art. 4. Voted also to provide five one-half barrels of powder with as n1uch 

shot as they shall think proper, and also to provide and add to the town stock 

of lead till the whole arnounts to one thousand pounds. 

"Mr. John Haskins, Seth Read and Edward Seagrave, Comrnittce for the 

above purpose.'' 

Relations between Britain and the Colonies went fron1 had to worse. In the 

Spring of 1775, the British Parlian1cnt annulled the Charter of :Massachusetts 

and ordered the arrest of John Adarr1s and John llancock hy force of ar1ns. 

The answer of the Minute Men of Lcxin~ton and Concord was ""a shot heard 

'round the world", April 19, 1775. 

The volunteer regin1ent of J\tf"inutc Men known as tl1c 26th Massachusetts 

Foot was already arn1cd, uni£ onncd and well drilled when news reached it at 

Lenox of the battles of Lexington and Concord. It was connnanded hy Col. 

John Patterson of Lenox, with Seth Read at Lieut. Colonel. Within eighteen 
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hours af tcr the news reached it, this regiment n1archcd fro1n Lenox to Cain ft 

hridgc and threw up the first redoubt around Bosfon, then built and garrisoned 

Fort No. 3 on Prospect 1-Iill, three n1iles west of Bunker Hill. During the Battle 

of Bunker Hill, it defended this position and prevented the British fro1n 

landing in this vicinity and gettin~ in the rear of our army. 

On June 11, 1775, it was sworn into the Continental A.rn1y as the 15th 

Infantry. On July 2, Gen. George Washington arrived at Cambridge and took 

conunand of the Continental Arn1y. On July 22, the 15th Infantry was assigned 

to the 3rd Division under Gen. Israel Putna1n. On November 9, it repulsed an 

attack on Lechmere's Point, now West Cambridge, and was commended by 

General Washington in general orders. It was actively engaged in this locality 

until Boston was evacuated. 

In the Spring of 1776, the 15th Regiment with three others was ordered to 

proceed to the relief of the arn1y in Canada. They arrived early in May at 

Montreal, which was then in our hands, hut under frightful conditions of 

famine and s1nallpox. On June 8, it was said that out of the original 600 men 

who started from Boston, only six were fit for duty. Retreat was decided upon. 

After many hardships and much sickness, the remnants of Arnold's Canadian 

Army, including the 15th Regiment, reached Crown Point. The 15th had lost 

one-third its men, and most of the remaining 400 were unfit for service, from 

sickness or wounds. "Our misfortunes in Canada" wrote John Adams from 

Philadelphia, "are enough to melt a heart of stone. The sn1allpox is ten tiines 

more terrible than British, Canadians and Indians together." Among the 

seriously ill was Seth Read. On August 19, 1776, he was granted leave hy Gen. 

Schuyler, who was now Connnandcr of the Northern Dcpartn1ent of our Anny, 

''to absent hi1nself from his rcgi1ncnt until such ti1nc as his health shall be so 

far restored as to enable hiin to discharge the duties of his station." (American 

Archives, 1776. Vol. 1, Page 1070.) 



Alas, that day of restored health never returned to Seth Read until after 

the United States had won its freedom ;-and then but partially and for but 

few· years, as he died at the untin1ely age of fifty-one. 

Broken in health and reduced from affluence to comparative poverty by 

the stagnation of business, the depreciation of our currency, and other disasters 

incident to the war, he nevertheless continued his loyal, patriotic services in 

such offices as his health permitted. His nan1e occurs constantly in the Records 

of his Town, in the Histories of Worcester County, and in the Civil and Military 

Records at the State !louse, Boston. He was" a member of the Constitutional 

Convention, 1779-1780. He served as a memher of the Massachusetts Legisla­

ture, 1784-1786. 

About this time, the settlement of the Indian lands in western Massachusetts 

and New York was claiming attention and Col. Seth felt his health sufficiently 

recovered to join a party of friends and his eldest son, James Manning Read, 

in search of a new fortune in land and trade in the west. Going by way of 

Schenectady and occasional Indian settlements, the party reached Seneca and 

Cayuga Lakes. Col. Seth finally decided to remain at Kanedesaga, a deserted 

Indian village at the foot of Lake Seneca, where Geneva now stands. He estab• 

lished trade with the Indians in partnership with a Peter Ryckman. Mrs. Read 

and the rest of the family joined him and his eldest son at Geneva in the winter 

of 1790, traveling by sleigh. The hardships which were bravely endured by our 

pioneer mothers is well illustrated by an account of their trip by a Jared Bough­

ton, who accompanied them fro1n a point west of Schenectady called General 

Danforth's Tavern at Onangaga Hollow. He writes: ""Te traveled thirteen miles 

the day we left General Danforth's. Col. Read's family and 1nine, fourteen in 

all, camped that night under a hemlock tree, built a camp of hemlock boughs, 

had a warm, brisk fire, and had a comfortable night of it. Next nig~t we 

arrived at the east shore of Lake Cayuga; there were two families there. We 

stayed all night and crossed the lake on ice next 1norning. The next night we 

got to the foot of Lake Seneca, found a man there named Earl; he had a log 



cabin hut no floor in it. We stayed there all night. Earl had a scow to ferry 

us over the outlet of the lake. Next morning we went home with Mrs. Read 

and family, found Col. Read waiting for the arrival of his family. His house 

stood on the hank of the lake, in Geneva. The place then contained ten or 

twelve families. 

The land situation was terribly confused at that time, as the boundry between 

Massachusetts and New York was in dispute and the treaties with the Indians 

still not concluded. Both states claimed the country around Geneva. Col. Read 

could never he quite sure whether he lived in New York or Massachusetts, 

could not get title to his land, and hence could not trade in same. In 1793, his 

eldest daughter Sophia, and husband Joshua Fairbanks, decided to push farther 

west. They first went down the Seneca River to Queenstown; later settled in 

Lewiston, N. Y. 

Two years later, a large group, headed by Col. Read, left Geneva for the 

west. They manned a boat somewhere near Buffalo and sailed along the south 

shore of Lake Erie to Presqu'ile. Col. Read and his family first settled in what 

became known as "The Triangle", now the business section of Erie. He was 

the first settler in the section,-the first in all territory now included in the 

City of Erie. He first built a crude hark house, but soon thereafter a substantial 

one of stone and logs. 

He also at once took up a thousand acres of land in Walnut Creek Valley 

where Kearsarge, Pa., is now located and commenced building a homestead 

called "Walnut Creek Farm". He moved there upon its completion in 1796, 

hut only lived to enjoy it until the following March. 

Thus, largely as a result of his sacrifice and suffering in helping to earn 

freedom for our United States, he was called away in the prime of life, with 

his new home and his new con1fort and security scarcely established. 

Fortunately, the welfare of his wife and children had been well founded 

in the "Walnut Creek Farm" and his other early investments in Erie. His 



wife, Hannah, soon turned over the management of the farm to the second 

son, Charles John, and established herself in the town of Erie. As the year8 

passed, she was able to have her old furniture and possessions brought out 

from Massachusetts and passed the remainder of her life surrounded by the 

luxuries of which war and privation had removed for so many years. It is 

said she spent much of her time pro1noting the com£ ort and happiness of 

those less fortunate than herself, and lived for many years respected and beloved 

by all. She died December 8, 1821. 

"Seth Read, His Ancestors and Descendants" 
by Mrs. Mary Hunter Buford, 1895. 
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THE ZANE ·FAMILY 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Robert Zane came to America with William Penn in 1682 and settled in 
• 

Philadelphia. One of the streets in that city is called Zane Street, after this 

first of the sturdy line of Quakers of the Zane family. He brought with him 

his son Nathaniel, then only two yea:rs old. 

It is recorded that the Zane family originally came from Denmark to France 

and thence followed William the Conqueror to England. 

Robert Zane eventually removed to Berkeley County, Virginia, where his 

son Nathaniel married and lived, and where his son William was horn. 

William Zane was blessed with six children: Ebenezer, Silas, Andrew, Jona­

than, Isaac, and Elizabeth. This group of children, in their several ways, were 

most unusual and contributed in an outstanding manner to the opening up 

and the settlement of this part of the country, including much of West Vir­

ginia, Ohio and northern Kentucky. 

Col. Ebenezer Zane, the eldest, is perhaps best known to history for his 

leadership in the settlement of Wheeling, W. Va., following which he organized 

and commanded the expedition which opened up the road through the wilderness 

from Wheeling to Maysville, Ky., in 1797 through what are now Zanesville, Lan­

caster and Chillecothe. This road was appropriately called "Zane's Trace." In 

this undertaking he was assisted by his brother Jonathan, and nephew William 

McColloch. 

Elizabeth, popularly known as Betty Zane, was the heroine of Fort Henry, 

the site of Wheeling. When the fort was attacked by the British and Indians 
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in 1782, under Gen. Han1ilton and the renegade Si1non Girty, she carried the 

powder f:rom the outer fort to the inner garrison under the fire of the enemy. 

Her heroism permitted the garrison to keep up their defense and eventually 

def eat the attackers. 

The life story of Isaac, the youngest brother and our direct ancestor, will 

be covered more fully in the following chapter. It may be said here, however, 

that it was a happy coincidence · that the two brothers Ebenezer and Isaac 

measured up to the opportunities which destiny afforded them, and contributed 
~ 

so cooperatively in the settlement of what was then known as the "west", -

Ebenezer pushing westward with our An1erican civilization and Isaac working 

from the Indian headquarters of his father-in-law, the great Tar-he', to the 

end that Ebenezer found a peaceful co-.,intryside instead of the earlier am­

bushes and massacres. 

So well did the brothers cooperate, along with Jonathon and Will McColloch, 

that I find contradictory evidence as to which should be credited with the 

founding of the city of Zanesville, Ohio. Actually, so far as ~ can learn, neither 

brother ever set up a home there. The best records now available agree that 

when Ebenezer's expedition reached the crossing of the Muskingum in 1797, 

the territory thereabouts was already under the settled and peaceful rule of 

Tar-he', whose headquarters and home was at Tar-he's-town a short distance 

to the southwest at the crossing of the Hockhocking. Isaac Zane had been 

established for some ten years at Zanesfield in Logan County. The road builders 

undoubtedly located a post of some sort at the confluence of the Muskingum 

and Licking, the site of Zanesville, hut continued their progress southwestward. 

When they reached Tar-he's headquarters, tl1ey n1et Nancy Zane, the eldest 

daughter of Isaac and Myeerah, then 19 years old, who was there visiting her 

grandparents, much as a young lady 1night do in these parts today. Nancy and 

young Willian1 McColloch ( who as previously mentioned was a nephew by 

1narriage of Uncle Ebenezer) in1mecliately fell in love, were n1arried in June, 



1797, and returned to make their home permanently at what is now Zanesville. 

Here their son, Noah Zane McColloch, was hcrn April 9, 1798, the first white 

child horn in what is now Muskingum County. Thus it would appear that the 

credit for settling, as weH as naming, Zanesville belongs to no single member 

of the Zanes, hut rather to their family group as a whole. 
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THE WHITE 

ISAAC 

EAGLE 

ZANE, 

OF THE WYANDOTS 

As stated in the preceding Chapter on the Zane family, Isaac was the youngest 

of the five sons of Nathaniel Zane. He was horn on his father's estate on the 

south hranch of the Potomac, near Mooresville, in Berkeley, now Hardy 

County, Virginia, in 1753. 

Issac and his brothers attended a public school at Mooresville. One evening 

in 1762, when returning home from school, he~ and his brother Jonathan were 

captured by a band of Indians who proved to he Hurons or Wyandots. Jonathan 

at the time was eleven and Isaac nine years of age. The two young Virginians 

were taken to Detroit and then to Sandusky and there were adopted into the 

Wyandot trihe. 

Some two y~ars after their capture, Jonathan was ransomed and returned 

to Virginia. In 1769 he moved with his brothers Ebenezer and Silas to the 

present site of Wheeling, W. Va. 

The head chief of the Wyandots, Tar-he', having no son, took a great fancy 

to young Isaac. He refused to ransom him, and for nine years kept him nominally 

as a prisoner in the ca1np of the Wyandots, hut actually hrought him up in his 

own home as his adopted son. 1-Ie was recognized as such by all the lndian8 

and treated by them with the greatest friendship and consideration. The treaty 

of peace following what our histories call the French and Indian War required 

that all captives held by the French or Indians be delivered up to the English -

this surrender being compulsory. Strangely enough, as "¥le view it today, many 

of the Indians' captives objected to being returned to their forn1er homes in 

the eastern states. Many had become enamoured with the freedom of the new 

western country and had established homes where they lived unmolested by 

their nominal captors. This explains why such pioneers as Simon Kenton, Boggs 

and others, as well as Isaac Zane, pref erred to stay in the so-called Indian 



territories rather then be forcibly removed to the eastern country which they had 

left years before and with which they were no longer· acquainted. 

Records differ as to Isaac Zane's activities between his nominal release under 

the above treaty, and the year 1777, when he married Myeerah, the only child 

of Chief Tar-he', the playmate of his early years with the Indians. One story 

records that he returned to Virginia in 1772, and settled in Frederick County, 

where he became a leader in the local politics of that county. This seems to he 

confirmed by a letter written in 1907 by the State Librarian of Virginia to 

General Robert P. Kennedy which says: "I beg to say that Isaac Zane served 

as a member of the House of Burgesses from Frederick County in 1773-7 4 and 

in 1775. He was a member of the Convention from Frederick County in March 

1775, also the July Convention of the same year and the May Convention of 

1776." There is some question, however, as to the possibility that this record 

may refer to a relative of the san1e name, since Isaac ( our Isaac) would have 

been only twenty years old and a relative stranger in the county at the tin1e of 

his election. 

Another pretty story, which is undoubtedly pure fiction, relates that Isaac, 

tiring of his captivity and of his Indian friends, escaped from the Wyandots 

and was well on his way back to Virginia when he was captured by Senecas 

under their great Chief Cornplanter near Fort Duquesne, now Pittsburgh, and 

was sentenced to he burned at the stake; that the Wyandot princess Myeerah, 

with a body of Wyandots under another celebrated chief, Thundercloud, was 

trailing Isaac, and dashed in to his rescue just as the Senecas were about to 

light the fire under their prisoner; and that Myeerah claimed the captive as a 

Wyandot and carried him off in triumph. 

There is no doubt, however, and no great wonder, that there should have 

been a bond of tender affection between these two young people, who grew up 



together virtually as brother and sister in the can1ps of the Wyandot chieftain 

on the banks of the Scioto and Mad Rivers. At the time of Isaac's capture, he 

was nine and Myeerah was but five years of age. As he grew into young man­

hood, he became recognized by the Indians for his strength, courage and leader­

ship in sports and contests; also his early schooling, short though it was, had 

given him the groundwork of an education which was denied his red companions 

so that he became a leader and counselor in matters pertaining to the interests 

of the Wyandot tribes, and finally a most valuable ambassador behveen the 
f, 

Indians and the ,vhite pioneers in the settlement of many matters between the 

two races. Myeerah, for her part, according to early records, was a really beauti­

ful Indian princess, who largely resembled her French in other both in features 

and coloring. Because of her fair coloring, she was known as the White Crane, 

the Crane, of course, referring to Tar-he'. The direct English meaning of 

"Myeerah" is "Walk-in-the-Water" and it is an interesting commentary that 

the first steamboat ever operated on Lake Erie was named "Walk-in-the-Water" 

in memory of Myeerah. 

It is a matter of definite record that Isaac and Myeerah were married in 1777 

and lived happily together for nearly forty years. This union, combined with 

Tar-he's determined efforts to adhere to the treaties with the American colonists, 

was largely instrumental in making it possible to open up the lands of southern 

and central Ohio to the civilization of the white man. 

Isaac settled at the head of the Mad River valley and there built a great fort 

or stockade as a rallying point for the alarmed or distressed, particularly for 

his fellow Quakers, who were always a peace-loving though independent people. 

He first called his settlement Zanestown~ and here he was widely known as the 

White Eagle of the Wyandots. During the remaining years of the Revolution his 

influence with both whites and Indians is evidenced by the fact that he was 



called into all councils pertaining to the relations of the two races. Here he was 

living with Myeerah and their children when in 1786 General Logan was sent 

up from I(entucky to destroy the settleme;nts of the rebellious Shawnees, Dela­

wares and Mingos. The Wyandots being at peace through the leadership of 

Tar-he' and Isaac, were not disturbed. It was soon after this campaign that 

General Simon Kenton moved to Zanestown and remained there until his 

death in 1836. 

Upon the gradual occupation of the surrounding country, Isaac was re­

peatedly honored by his fellow citizens. The United States government granted 

him two sections of land in what is now Cl}an1paign County. Later he purchased 

1800 acres in and around Zanestown, some of which he was already occupying, but 

the title of which had been contested. When Champaign County was founded 

its northermost township was named after him, and later upon the organization 

of Logan County, the eastern township was called Zane Township. At this time, 

to avoid confusion the name Zanestown was changed to Zanesfield, and remains 

so to this day. 

He was present at the Treaty of Greenville in 1795, where he acted as an 

official interpreter and ably assisted his father-in-law, Tar-he', in getting the 

various Indian tribes to accept the Treaty. In 1812 he was one of three called 

to Urbana by Governor Meigs to conduct a council of peace with the Shawnees 

and Senecas. Again in 1815, he cooperated with Tar-he' in the successful con­

ference with General William Henry Ha1·rison at Franklintown (now Columbus). 

This meeting, known as the Harrison-Tar-he' Peace Conference, resulted in 

General Harrison's campaign into Canada with the Wyandots as his active 

allies. It culminated in his victory at the Thames, which concluded the War 

of 1812 in the West, with complete success for the United States. 

Isaac Zane lived to see the peace of which he had so long dreamed, and to 

which he had so greatly contributed. He died at his home in Zanesfield in 
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October of 1816. His wife, Myeerah, "The White Crane", preceded him by just 

eight months, having passed away in February, 1816. 

The war of 1812 was just over. With its successful conclusion there ceased 

also the last widespread struggles between the white and red men of the 

Northwest Territory. 

Isaac's capture and subsequent life with the ,vyandots proved to be a great 

blessing to the pioneers in the valleys of the Mad and Miami Rivers, and his 

union with Myeerah has left a line of descendants who are justly proud of the 

ancestry from which they sprang. 

Three sons and four daughters were born to Isaac and Myeerah. The sons, 

William, Ebenezer and Isaac, Jr., continued their father's efforts in the building 

up of the new country. The eldest daughter, Nancy, as has already been men­

tioned, married William McColloch and they h_ecame the first permanent resi­

dents of Zanesville. Sallie married a Robert .Armstrong, who lived in Upper 

Sandusky and was influential in the councils of the Wyandots. Kitty married 

Alexander Long. 

Elizabeth, the youngest, named for her illustrious aunt who saved the day 

at Fort Henry, first married Robert Robitaille, a French-Canadian of consider­

able wealth, who came to Ohio to trade in furs. A.fter his marriage he did 

not return to Canada, but settled at Zanesfield and opened what is said to be 

the first general store ever established in that part of Ohio. To this union two 

sons were horn: Robert in 1796 and James in 1798. The father died in 1802, 

and the mother and sons returned to live with Isaac Zane for several years. 

Elizabeth then married James Manning Read, eldest son of Seth Read, the 

founder of Erie, Pa. Ah out 1817, an uncle of the two Robitaille boys came out 

from Montreal and persuaded them to return with him to Canada. In 1876, 

Dr. James Robitaille, the younger brother, who had risen to the post of 

Treasurer-General of Canada, but was retired by that time, visited his half­

sister, Mrs. Isaac Gardner, and confirmed much of the history of Tar-he', 
~ 

Myeerah and the early Zanes, in conversation with Gen. Robert P. Kennedy, a 



son-in-law of the Gardners. General Kennedy's subsequent publications have 

furnished much of the data for this biography. 

Elizabeth and James Manning Read ha_d six children, as stated previously 

in the genealogy of the Read family. Eliza, the eldest daughter, was born in 

Bellefontaine, Ohio, August 11, 1813. She was n1arried there on July 28, 1831, 

to Gen. Isaac Skiles Gardner. They were my great-grandparents. Their happy 

married life of sixty-one years is described in detail in the Chapter covering 

the Gardner and Skiles families. 

We are also particularly interested in the youngest child, Ebenezer Zane 

Read, who went to Colorado about the time my father and Grand£ ather Reynolds 

first visited there. He spent his last years with his daughter and son-in-law, 

Sophie and Will Quien, who had purchased the ranch of Hilltop, Colorado which 

my father bought from the Government. He died there March 6, 1898. I remem­

ber him distinctly, our family having spent the summer of 1897 on Grandfather's 

ranch. An interesting letter which he wrote Adele Reynolds Parrott just a few 

months before his death is preserved in the Zane-Reynolds-Parrott Scrap Book 

at the Dayton Public Library, and mentions many Hilltop ranchers whom I 

knew as a hoy. 

"Isaac Zane. The White Eagle of the Wyandots''. by Gen. Robert P. Kennedy 
The Ohio Magazine, Vol. II. 1907, Pages 295-300. DPL #ROSO. 
"The History of Zanesfield", by 0. K. Reames. DPL #R977.146/R288h 



REPRODUCTION OF WOODCUT MADE CIRCA 1848 

SEE OHIO ARCHEOLOGICAL & HISTORICAL PUBLICATIONS 
VOL. 14, PAGE 13:3 

, " 
TAR-HE THE CRANE" 

CHIEF OF THE WYANDOTS 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

At various times in the early conflict between the white and red races, there have 

appeared great and worthy red men, as well as white, actuated by high pur­

poses, whose lives have had historical importance because of their magnanimous 

and noble deeds. 

Such a man was Tar-he', "The Crane," Grand Sachem of the Wyandot Nation 

from the middle of the Eighteenth Century until his death in 1818 at the ripe 

age of seventy-six. 

Fortunately, the outstanding events of Tar-he's life are a matter of exact 

historical record. He was horn near Detroit in 17 42. He belonged to the Porcupine 

tribe of the Wyandots. His name, Tar-he', means "The Tree" in the Wyandot 



tongue, not "Crane." This latter w-as merely a sobriquet, or nick-name, given 

him by the French after he reached maturity, on account of his height, his 

slender form and his erect posture. This name was taken up by the English 

and Americans and stuck to him throughout the rest of his life. Indeed, his 

home in later years, and the place of his death, is known as Cranetown, Ohio, 

rather than hearing his Indian name. 

Tar-he's early years probably were spent in the vicinity of the Wyandot 

headquarters near the present city of Sandusky, Ohio. Sometime during this 

youthful period an event occurred which no doubt contributed to his devotion 

to the cause of peace between his race and the new white settlers, as importantly 

as his own upright character and long range vision. The wife and young 

daughter of a Chevalier Durante of Montreal~ Canada, were captured hy the 

Wyandots and brought to the place where the youthful Tar-he' then lived. 

Unfortunately, we know little of the young daughter, Mlle. Durante, not 

even her Christian name. We do know, however, that when her mother was 

freed and returned to Montreal, the daughter was retained by the Indians. She 

and Tar-he' grew up together, and when they had attained maturity and Tar-he' 

had become the Wyandot chieftain, they were married. 

They had hut one child, a daughter whom they named Myeerah, "Walk-in­

the-W ater." The child was generally known, however, as ''The White Crane'', 

for her fair skin, as well as her delicate features, resembled her French-Canadian 

mother. Some years later, in 1762, a nine-year-old lad was brought captive to 

Tar .. he'. This boy was Isaac Zane. Having no son, Tar-he' took a great fancy to 

the boy, brought him up as his son and heir, and when they attained maturity, 

Isaac and Myeerah were married. Living thus in domestic harmony, it is easily 

understood how natural it was for both Tar-he' and his son-in-law to have had 

the vision that what they had attained in their family circle was possible of 

achievement on a country-wide scale. At any rate, they both committed themselves 
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to strive for peace between the two races, and thus contributed so largely toward 

the settlement and civilization of all this section of our present great nation. 

The decision to live peaceably with the white men did not come to Tar-he' 

in early life, nor did it come until he had tasted hitter defeat in his effort 

to prevent their entry into what the Wyandots considered their homelands in 

western Ohio. Soon after the successful conclusion of the War of Independence, 

American pioneers began pressing into Ohio. These settlers were augmented 

by military expeditions. One such, led by General St. Clair, was ambushed · 

and massacred by the Indians near Fort Recovery in 1792. It is probable that 

Tar-he' was one of the Indian leaders in that n1assacre. Two years later, the new 

government sent out General Anthony Wayne with an army which was expertly 

led and adequately equipped. After several minor actions, General Wayne 

engaged the combined strength of all the Indian forces at the crucia1 battle 

of "Fallen Timbers," (or Miami Rapids), on the Maumee River, southwest of 

where Toledo now stands. This battle resulted in the complete rout of the 

Indian forces. So far as is known, Tar-he' was the only important Indian Chief 

who survived this battle, and he was severely, though not critically, wounded. 

This battle of Fallen Timbers led directly to the Treaty of Greenville, which 

brought peace between the American settlers and the Indians in all the North­

west Territory, except for outbursts under such rebellious leaders as Tecumseh 

in 1812. 

The Ohio Archeological and Historical Publications (Vol. 9, Pages 1-9), as 

well as the publications of Jeremiah Armstrong, an early resident of Columbus 

who aided in the publishing of Martin's History of Franklin County (Ohio) in 

1858, both credit Tar-he' as being the rnost influential Chief in bringing 



THE omo CENTINEL. 

-rtitMS OF THE CENTINEL. 
11(111 Omo .Cr.NTINEI, i,i pu/Jlillhed on 

nfir,day qfevery week, on a abut qf a 
waium size, and delroered to «uas-:ribera 
"Ifie office, at TWO DOLLARS AND Fll'TY 
4:E!ITS pn- year, to 6e f,aid at tl,e end oj 
jti:r--JJ!' TWO,POLLAilS paid in advance. 
'Q ,en, frjlJrivtJte post, TUREE DOLLABS 

F' year, paid at the end qf the year-or 
two DOLLARS <\ND FIFTY CENTS ftaid in 
cdvante. If paid within two months after 
'tl,6scri6ing, it will 6e considered as f1aid in 
idvan~. 

ICr' Produce_ will lie taken in f1ay111rnt 
.i tAe market price. 

INDIAN .AFFAIRS. 

l',oceedlngs of a Council begun and held 
al Urbana, Champaign County, Ohio, 
on Saturday the 6th of June, 1812, be­
tween his Excellency RETCBN JONA• 
'rHAN MEIGS, Esq. Governor and com­

. mander in chief in and over the state of 
Ohio, and 'the Chiefs of the Wyandott, 
Shawanoe, and Mingo tribe,s of Indi­
ans, to wit: 

T AR•HE, or Crane, } 
SHA•NA•TO, 

5EN•1'U11H, \Vyandotta. 
Ji1AN•\lN•HAN, 

Dr.w-r.-su,or Big River, 

CUT-A·:WE~HA·B, or -!~lack Hoof,} r,, 
CUT·A•WE·PA, or LeWlS, ; 
P1•A•Gl!'.•HAs ~ 
Pt••JA•NA•GE1 j!l 
l:IT·E•HISH•Z•M01 g 
N.t-SA•IIA•ES-~ HI!:, !" 

)h-THA•Jll!I• or Civil John, a Mingo. 

. His Excellency addressed the Chief& u · 
!el\ows: 
.My Rtd Brotlu:r11, Ch~fa of the 

Wyandott•, Shawanaes, and Min$oU, 

J thank the Great Spirit that he baa 
permitted us to come together, where we 
can talk treely and 11.incerely. 
~·A• father or the people oi the 11tate of 
Q.hio1 who . livo u neighbours to you, 1 
speak. 
· Brolht't'•r-Ever since the treaty of 
Greenville, we have hvcd in peace, and 
fulfilled all the promi~s then made to 
you. We wish tilwaya to live in peace 
with you-it is because we {<roe peace, 
and not because we/ear war. The Wy­
lllldotts, Shawanoes, and Mingces. are 
brave nations, and brave 111en will !lO.t 
brc~k their promises. 

Brother1tr-Our great father, the Pre­
dident of the United States, whose eye 
equally regards all his children, desires 
tlmt you i;hould live as we live-to raise 
,:our provision and provide for your fami­
lies. 

Brolher.r,-Open your ears ; listen to 
what I say ; I speak from my heart. Bad 
lJlen and liars have endeavored to break 
r/Jc chain offriendship. If you hearken 
to the deceiver caUed the Prophet, and 
the mad man, Tecumseh, his brother, 
your skies wm be cloudy, your paths will 
.~ <lark, and you will tread on thorns. 
'fhe pretended Prophet has ch~ated s_umo 
.fl£ different'tribes. He does not comntu• 
tucate with the G1·eat Spirit. His coun-
1cls arc foolish, and·bave stained the land 
-with blood. But the Gl'eat Spirit above 

~eli~hta in seeittg all his children live in 
peace, and smiles upon them when they 
«lo. He frowned on the Prophet at Tip­
p~canoe, and hi.a deluded followers were 
destroyed. 
. Ero1her3,-Qpen your eyes. An army 

of my own children, of fifteen hundred 
men, are marching under the command 
oj General Hull, the father of the Michi­
i;an Territory. But, brothers, be not a­
~d-although bis army is strong, he 
-.,iH alrike none but rnrmics. 
. llrotMra,-Listeu to me attentively. 

Your ycung men sometimes go rashly 
out ofthe true path, and do mischief, and 
go to war, without your permission. You 
P.re their chiefs, and they must obey you. 
Y:cu must restrain them, so that your 
wives and children may sleep in peace, 
and the innocent not sutrer for the acts of 
the guilty. 

. His Excellency then, addressing him­
aelf particularly to Tar-he, a \'Vyandott 
Chief, and taking him by the hand,-con­
ti1.ued-

JiI,j Brother Tar-M,-Twenty-oneyears 
t(".()1 I came lo you at Sandusky, through 
tht wi:demess. You took. me to yollr 
n.lJin-1 wa:1 faint and you refreshed me; 
1 was hung1-y and you fed me ;-I wffl 
now feed you, IUld will · :ihow you th!' 
fr~ndllilip whi<:A WY people :ilt<l\ttd. 7~ 

Tll{JRSDAY, JUNE 1s, 19·12. 

pocple last winter. After the battle of 
the Wabash, many:.hun~reds .,f y:ur 
mc11, worrien l!lld children cam1- .. mong 
us, even to the b:inks of the great 1iver tQ 
hunt, ~ .aen~ messen~ers to my children 
every where, to treat your men, \Vomen, 
and child1·en with kindm:ss, and not tQ 
molest then,, because, as I told then; you 
had a right to come among 115 b; the 
tr~aty _of Greenville. Not one of all those 
n'?ong ~s was injured. They tarried g.11 
wmter, nnd returned to their towns in 

. 11afety. And by that treaty you mu•t abide. 
Brot'(,era,r-1 will not deceive you. The 

_Great Spirit, who shakes the earth, wills 
that I tell you nQthint but the truth. If 
)'OU hold fast to the treaties you have 
ntade, the United States will hold them 
fast on their part, But the tomahawk 
must not be stained with• the blocld of my 
~hildren ; if it is, it must be w'.rested fi·om 
you, and ,m!}k in• the bottom of the great 
fakes. If you join the enemies of the U­
nited States, there will be no peace for 
you. 

Brothert-r-I lu.y my hand on my heart, 
and assure you, that if you are faithful, 
you •hall be protected. It is promised, 
and it 1kall be fulfilled, 

Brothera,r-You have lis~nd to my 
Vou;e, I will now listen to yours; 

TAR-III!, a Chief ef.lhe .WyatjdPtt lrillt, 
after •ome conaideraofe time ,pent in 
conrndfation 'With t~ tfhv/a of lhc dif­
ferent tri/Jei,, ,pokt:, · 

BKOTHEll.1 

We suppos11 that.the Greitt Spirit has 
ordered tJ1at we come •tllgether on this 
day.· \Ve have met to make known·our 
friendship towards you. We thank tho 
Great Spirit·that so many of ull ba<te been 
able to come together at this time, and 
that we can talk, one with another. The 
Great Spirit placed us here as brothers, 
and, a,; we believe, requires that we Jive 
together as brot9lrs ought to do. If we 
are willing to live in friendship with each 
other, he will permit us so to remain. I 
have often beard of our great father, the 
Presidc,tt of the United States; I have ne­
ver seen him, but I hope that not only 
QUrselTes, but that he also, will be of the 
same mind. . · 

Brother,-Lesten. We have come.to 
·f.lllk with you. We have heard you; and 
we wish that you would hear ua. I hope 
that not only you, but that our great fua 
ther, the President of the United States, 
will listen, as we expect.that he;:WiU ht:ar 
what we have to say at this time(:' 

JJrother,-l have not muc:h to .. say a• 
bout the treaty, of which you have been 
talking, I believe I remember, and have 
kept that treaty, and hope t1-·/3reat Spi­
rit will help me alwa.ys to keep .it. When 
our father, General Wayne, and ourselves 
made that treaty, we talked aboat it toge• 
ther. We then said that the treaty should 
never be broken; that we would alway•· 
be at peace, that 0\lr women and children 
might remain at rest. We talked that 
we were old, and · would not long stay 
here ; but that we ahould teach our youngl_ 
men, a.lways to keep it. This is all I 
have to say, brother, !or myself, 

.Broth,r,-W e are only from a fe,v na• 
tiona who are here; but I will now speak 
for them. That (handing bis Excellency 
a belt of white wampum) ii a token of 
fleac,. We have received it from the\ 
Gteat Spirit. It is clean and pure, and is 
unalained wit/, the blood qf any while 
man. 

Brot/:1.'1',-The eye bf the Great·Spirit 
is not onlv on our actions, but sees our 
hearts, He did not place us here to q,1ar­
l'el, but to live in peace with one another. 
We ought so to t.'\lk, and have his name 
in our hearts. \Ve can only speak to you 
for ourselves. A number of my people 
arc a great way off. Thbse who are near 
me, I speak for. . 

Brather-r-l wish you to understand me. 
We wish for peace. W o will not listen 
to bad men and liars, and we pray the 
Great Spirit to ahut our eara against 
them. 

.Broth,-,-,-Here are the Chiefs of the 
Shawanoe, Wyandott, and Mingo nations. 
\Ve ans1vc1· only fur ourselves. \Ve are 
all of one mind. We all td6hforp,ace. 
Brother, we are not telling you any lie; 
and I hope that,ou and our great father, 
the President o the United Statee, wi!I 
think so .. The Great Spirit knows i,.ir 
hearts, and• knows that we uc sincere.­
We may decelve you, but we cv.nnot <le­
ceive him. 

.Brother,-.This,is llll I have kl-11:iy •. ,I. 
hope.our father, Gc:ne1'\\l-H~ll,. will liiei,, 

.be here. I wish to speak to him, and~ 
you brother, i,.pope, he may succe~a, 
Jlltd that if'he should meet with enemies, 
that ho may overcome '.them. : 

Cu!l'-4-IVl!•HA•SA, or !lL·~·c;.c Hoo,, tlm, 
. Spqke a,afollfws: 

F&THED., . .l&' . 
I sh:ike hands with yQu in friendsbip. 

You ba.ve heard Tar-he. What he has 
said, we have to say. \Ve arc all as one. 

Father,-! have got my instructions 
,vhich I received from our great father, 
the President. 'I make them my study, 

. and walk hi the path which he pointed 
our, without turning to the right or left. 
lt.iii·the wish o~me,:md ofall myllation, 
tQ be at peace with you ; to be fru!r-11 and 
industrious, that we may provide for our 
women and children. I hope the Great 
Spirit will assist the white people, and me 
and my people, to shut their·cars against 
liars, and all bad men. l intend to keep 
the directions of our great father, the Pre> 
i:ident, and all those ,yho have authority 
under him. I look to you, as to one of 
my great fathers, who will point 011t.tbe 
road in whlch I have tQ walk.. F1"9ni the 
situation in which your people have plac­
ed you, and from your standing amcmg 
them, and from your gray hairs., _I think. 
you have wisdom to direct rue, and 1 shall 
listen to what you say. I am glad you 
came here. I hope you "ill help us to 
be at peace, and take under y·our protec-. 
tion ourselves, our women, and ou1· chil­
dreq, _a_s you do ycur white children, and 
do as you think best with them. Youc 
ted children are poor, but their hearts ai.:~ 
good. I am happy to see our fathel' .and 
brothers, and I am very happy tq $hake 
~ands with you, ( sbak1iig hands wit'h his 
Excellency) ;md you may rest assurtd 
that they sha:11 never be parted. The writ­
ings and instructiollll which I received 
from our great father, the President of 
the United States, I carl'y with me when 
t .go aJn:oad, I have them when I remain 
at /Jome; and when I sleep I lay them 
under my pillow. You have heard the 
Wyandotts, you have heard me, I have 
heard yq_u, and I {presenting his Exc_cl­
le11cy with llllOther b.elt of wampum) give 
you this from my heart, a• a taken qf 
peace. I have done, ancl I thank you. 

Cu'l'•A•IYlr.·PA1 or LE;;rs, SJ1o'fce aa fol-
lowa: 

I have only a few words to say. Father, 
:....1 ha,•e. heard something from :;ou this 
llay, satisfactory to me. It appears that 
by the dispensauon of Providence, we 
have met in peace at this titne. I trust 
the Great Spirit is now looking down, 
and will witness the sincerity of my heart, 
in what I am going to' say. It is true 
what Tar-he has 11aid; and I also, take 
my direction from the seventeen fires 
which are burning throughout this union, 
and from the President of the United 
States. I am but a stripling-in compari­
son with my aged fathers who haYe ·spoke 
before me, but I can speak the sentiments 
ofmy heart. When I went to my fathers, 
the President of the United States and the 
Secretary of War, I received my in·struc­
tlons from them, and although the Hea­
vens should fall asunder, and the earth 
should open be.neath my feet, J "Will not 
ftart with them, ,,or wander from the ftath 
<;1)/iirh thei, J1oint out. 

Father,-! have heard what you ha,·e 
said, and am glad in my heart. I shall 
take every means to prevent my young 
men from disturbing the whites, in any 
manner. This is all I have to say-I have 
and will follow the instructions of my fa. 
thers,the President of the United St.,tes, 
the Secretary .. t War, and of you. 

His Excellency then atldrcssed th9 
Cbiefs, by obscrvi,;~ tliat it was expected 
Governor Hull would 1mi1·c en ~1e ep­
suing day, and reque6tcd that they r,w2.:t 
bis arrival, iil orclc,· that they mi;:;ht b.ve 
an oppo!'tunity also of counselling toge­
ther; :o which the cli!ferent chiefa very 
readily assen~ed. 'fj1e coi;nci! bro!;e up. 

Copy of a letteraddreued ID zile Edi:or of 
Ifie Ohio Centlnel, daud-C:11rnfl, :uar 
Urflana, Jun, E, 18 12. 
This rnorrnu6 Uo,crnOI' l\kig~ came 

to the Ca)Ilp wllh tl.e ~aITle chici's ··with 
wl·.ich he li.id the council on t.1-ie 6th. Af­
ter !!Ome hour.; spent in speaking by Ge­
ner1tl lfoll, Gem rDCJl:' Meigs; and the 
ct,id':,, the Chiefa ~ig:ie-1. '411 agrecm~ht 
wit4·~r,neral Hull, ttr !;l'ar.1 e. 1•oiid from 
\1)4 Cilw~n,·illc trl!P_ty i:ne,'in Ct:ampaign 
co~rn: 0

, ;o ,he Rr p;<i:; <-f tf;e !\1ia:M oftllc 
LA.;; 'f:t~to ci ,Ml- iJbd.:~lt ~a.:a·on ·U1c 

road, after vhic:h Governor Meigw tn4 
General Hull took their dinner lritb tb,o 
Chiefs. In . the afternoon, the. ~ 
marcheo through Urbana t\>&'.tO!ltigloa 
prairie, formed the line, and nlutecl ~ 
•'Vernor Meigs, who was lollowed ti,·me 
Indian Chiefs. 

WASHINGTON CITY, Miry U; . 
The following message from the Pre6-

dent of the United StatAl&"WIIS ~ tlaf 
received by both Houses of'Co11gtts1:. 

7'o ,11~ Smatr: and Routt: qf Repr~:. 
· trvra of the Untied $rates. : · ·--:, 

I comhlunke.te to Co11grcs11, 'filr theiJ 
information, copiet roid ex~ts'frqtli tblt 
'Correspondence of the· Secretuy'of8tatt1, 
and the M,inister PlenipotetitialJ .¢ jlai 
United States 1lt Paris. Thtse clol:u. 
incnts will place 'before C!)llgl'Csl! _the ltei­
tuat posture of our affairs \\1th Frarice: 

. JAMES •MADtsON'-
May 26, 1812. 

C0RRESPONDENCB, 
LETTERS FllOM Tfi SJlCBETAtlt 01I' 

~ STATE·TO MB, BA'llLDW, 

Mr. Monrot, Se~tary qf State, ta Joi-) 
Barlow, E6g, 

D.1tP.tRTlllENT Ol!' STATE,1 
JuLY.26,1811 .. 5 

SIR.lit is the deldre of the Preaidel\t 
that yuu should set ,out, w!~ut _delay1 
for Paris, to commence tb·e ouues ofth~ 
office· of minister plenipotentiary to tho 
Emperor of France, with which you aro 
invested. A frigate, .prepared f(!i')•~ 
accommodation, will receive you lit ;Aif-: 
napolis, ·and convey you to the' moot con­
venient port of that country. I enclosq 
you a commission and letter of c;redefiCt:~ 
with such other documel\tS as are necc~ 
sary to illustrate the subjects on 'Yfhil:bi 
you will have to act. 

With the ordiuary duties ofthe office. 
you are too well acquainted to tequir~ 
any commeut on tltem iu this I~iter; 
There ate, however', some subjects ·of. 
peculiar importance which will cla~ 
your attention immediately after your i'e .. 
~eption. On these it is proper that yo11 
should know distinctly the sentiments o( 
the President. 11, · 

The United States havfr' claims oa· 
France, which it is expected that her go-; 
vernment·will satisfy to their'fult extent 
and without delay. These are foundllit 
panly on the late arrangement by which 
the non importation law:Qf the \st M~y,. 
I 8 Io, was carried into effect against G~ 
Britain, and partly on injuries to thew 
commerce, commiued on the high seas, 
and in French ports. 

To form a just estimate of the cl:iims 
of the first class, it is necessary to c!xa:­
mine minutely their nature and extent. 
The present is a proper tin,e to_ makl) 
this examination, and to press a compli­
ance with the arrangement, in every i:lt• 
cumstancc, on its just principles, on ~~ 
government of France. The President,. 
conscioua that the United States havo 
performed every act that was stipulated 
oil their pa1't with the most perfe'ct good 
faith, expects a like perfonnance on thl) 
part of France. He considers it pecu­
!ialy incumbent on him to request such 
explanations from her government, aa 
will dissipate all 'doubt of what he may 
expect from it in future, on this and eve­
ry other question depending between tho 
two nation$. 

By the act of May 1st, 18101 it was de• 
clared, that in case Great Britain or­
France should, before the 3d day of 
March, 1811, so revoke or modify her e­
c) lets as that they should cea3c to Ji~lato 
i:1~ neutral commerce of the ~d 
States, which fact the President should 
d<!,,lar'! by proclam.-.tion, and if the other 
nt\tion should not, wii.hin three months 
1•,~rcafter, rJvo!te or modify its edicts i11. 
like manner, then the :l, 4, 6, 7, a, 9, 10 
and 18th sections of the act, entitled" A11 
act to interdict the commercial inter­
course between the United States and 
Great Britain and France, ~c." should, 
from and ~ftcr the expiration of three 
month~ from the date of the proclama­
tion aforesaid, be \'cviYed, anil have full 
force aad effect, sd far as relate to the dP-: 
ralr.ions, colonies an4 dependencies, apt( 
to· the articles the grawth, produce ·~ 
manufacture d the dominions, coliinie5 
and'. depend<:pcics of the nation th.us re~ 
fu~ing oi: l}ellectini,to re,'t.lke or modi­
fy 'ita edicts in_ the manner 'afores,a.id: 

'f_his ac1 hav'ini; been pl'om\ifpti:4.anil 
m~~.kno11'1l \o the: goyernmentt;ol"{ircat 
Bi'italll <11Jd Fl'l\nce, the miril:ter of th• 
latre't;·bf n.~ ti®rtiiw; dite'40: tho ·'$~11 



about the Treaty of Greenville. He had the discernment to see that the battle 

of "Fallen Timbers" had broken the military power of the Indians in the North­

west Territory and that peace was the only salvation for his trihe or his race. 

Through Tar-he's influence, a preliminary truce was ag1·eed upon on January 

24, 1795 between General Wayne and the principal chiefs of the Wyandots, 

Chippewas, Ottawas, Sacs, Pottawattomies, Miamis, Shawnees and Delawares. 

On August 3, 1795,' the formal treaty was signed at Greenville. At this meeting 

Tar-he' was the most influential leader an1ong the Indians and signed the 

treaty first of all the Indian chiefs, immediately under the signature of General 

Wayne. The last signature on this treaty is also of interest to our family in 

particular; it is that of Isaac Zane, who acted as an interpreter. 

Most of the parties to the Treaty of Greenville remained true to its pro­

visions, notwithstanding the baneful influence of Tecumseh and his brother 

"The Prophet", who for some years industriously worked to foment hostilities 

between white and red men, culminating in the outbreak which was coincident 

with our War of 1812 with Great Britain. 

The loyalty of the Indians was of primary importance to the United States 

in planning its campaigns against the British in the Northwest country. On 

June 6, 1812, a meeting was held between Governor Meigs of Ohio and the 

principal Chiefs, headed by Tar-he', for the purpose of having them confirm 

their adherance to the new government. Under Tar-he's leadership, the desired 

pledges were given. A verbatim account of this meeting was carried in the 

"Ohio Centinel" of Dayton (note old spelling of Sentinel) on May 12, 1812. It is 

interesting to note that Tar-he' was the only Chief whom Gov. Meigs addressed hy 

name, and that Tar-he', who made the first reply to the governor's plea, 



treated him as .an equal by addressing hin1 as "brother," while all the lesser 

Chiefs whose pledges followed addressed him as "father." 

On June 21, 1813, a second conference was held at Columbus, ( then called 

Franklintown). Tar-he' at the head of some fifty chiefs and warriors convened 

there with General William Henry Harrison, who was in command of the 

U. S. Armies in the west during the War of 1812. As their spokesman, Tar-he' 

assured General Harrison that the big majority, at least, of the Indian tribes 

would remain true to their treaty obligations and, if desired, would join with 

him in the prosecution of the war against the E:qglish under General Proctor, 

to whom Tecumseh was then allied. This assurance was of greatest importance 

to General Harrison at this critical period of the war and enabled him to use 

his own forces with far greater effect. The Indian off er of active assistance 

was gladly accepted, and although he was then seventy-two years of age, Tar-he' 

marched on foot at the head of his warriors throughout Harrison's subsequent 

campaign into Canada. He was an active participant and acknowledged as 

one of General Harrison's most trusted and competent lieutenants in the 

Battle of the Thames,-the crucial engagement which in the western country 

decided the War of 1812 in favor of the United States. 

Tar-he' spent his last years quietly in the village bearing his name, Crane 

Town, near Upper Sandusky in Wyandot County, Ohio. As Chief Sachem of 

the Wyandot nation he held the Grand Calumet, the symbol of sovereignty 

which hound all the tribes north of the Ohio River in a confederation for 

mutual benefit and protection. He was, therefore, up to the time of his 

death, the leading and most influential representative of his race in the North­

west Territory. Probably no chief in the history of the Indian race ever lived 

to attain such wide friendship and sincere respect from white and red men 

alike. 

In November, 1818, he died peaceably in Crane Town, at the age of seventy­

six. His death was mourned, and his funeral attended, by the Shawnees, Dela­

wares, Senecas, Ottawas, Mohawks, and Miamis, ae well as his own Wyandots. 



A notable gathering of white settlers, including official representatives of 

the Federal, State and local governments, attended the· services. 

Many are the testimonials and eulogies which have been written in Tar-he's 

memory. A Mr. Walker, who was horn at Upper Sandusky in 1801 and later 

became the first Territorial Governor of Kansas, has left a sketch of Tar-he', 

whom he knew as a hoy. This was published in the "Wyandot Democrat" of 

August 13, 1866 and says in part: "He steadily and unflinchingly opposed 

Tecumseh's war policy from 1808 up to the hreaking out of the War of 1812. He 

maintained inviolate the Treaty of Greenville ( 1795). This brought him. into 

conflict ·with the ambitious Shawnee Tecumseh, who had no regard for the 

plighted faith of his predecessors. But Tar-he' remained true to the terms of 

the Treaty and thus to the ... .\.merican program of pacifying and settling our .,. 

great Northwest Territory." (Article known from quotation only, no copy of 

issue located). 

We have already mentioned articles appearing in the OHIO ARCHEOLOGI­

CAL PUBLICATIONS and MARTIN'S HISTORY of Franklin County, Ohio. 

Great tribute came also from General, later President, William Henry 

Harrison, who had the widest acquaintance with, and most accurate knowledge 

of, the Indians of the Northwest Territory. He always gave his highest endorse­

ment as to the honor and worth of this great chief, with whom he was for some 

years so intimately acquainted. In his report to the Secretary of War on 

March 22, 1814, he wrote: "The Wyandots of Sandusky have adhered to us 

throughout the War. Their chief, the Crane, is a venerable, intelligent and 

upright man." Later, commenting on several important chiefs with whom he 

had been in personal contact, he designated Chief Tar-he' ''as the noblest of 

them all." 

''Monuments to Historical Indian Chiefs", by Edward L. Taylor 
Ohio Archeological & Historical Publications, Vol. IX, Pages 1-9. DPL #R977.1/0 

"Harrison - Tar-he' Peace Conference", by Edward L. Taylor 
Ohio Archeological & Historical Publications, Vol. XIV, Pages 121-138. DPL #977.1/0 

"Tar-he' the Indian Chief", by Charles E. Slocum 
Ohio Archeological & Historical Publications, Vol. XIV, Page 313. DPL #977.1/0 

"Tar-he' and the Zanes", by Gen. Robert P. Kennedy · 
Ohio Archeological & Historical Publications, Vol. XXVI, Page 146, DPL #977.1/0 

"The Treaty of Greenville", by Frazer E. Wilson 
Ohio Archeological & Historical Publications, Vol. XII, Page 145, DPL #977.1/0 
Ohio Centinel, Dayton Public Library. 





CONCLUSION 

I have attempted, from my memory and by two years of research, to write a 

history of the Reynolds family, and also a history of the Witter, Chapman and 

Upson, Gardner and Skiles, Read and Zane families, who were the ancestors of 

my grandparents. I have made no attempt to write the history of families who 

were not directly the ancestors of my grandparents; first, because I might have 

been duplicating efforts already made, second, it would have taken a number of 

years of additional research and third, I did not feel it was pertinent to write 

the histories of these families, because they were not the ancestors of my grand­

parents. I hope that my effort ·will he of interest to a considerable number of 

my relatives and friends. 
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CHART I 

ANCESTORS OF LUCIUS D. AND SOPHIA (GARDNER) REYNOLDS 

WIJ.LJAM REYNOLDS ==MARGARET EXTON 
( b. Cff"CQ /606 ) 

1hey landPd of Pl'lmoufh Colom;, R. I., 3/'20,/2636 

WILLIAM WITTER 
Came to Am,.m'ca will, In's 

/ami/1/, 1640. S,,tfled in L'fnn, Man. 

JOHN READ= SARAH 
(/599 - p/168S} 

came to America in 1630 

HENRY REYNOLDS ,v,o.,1618PRUDENCE CLAYTON JOSIAH WITTER THOMAS UPSON SAMUEL READ 
1668 

HOPESTILL HOLEBROOK 
( d. ca. 1717) 

NATHANIEL HARWOOD =ELIZABETH ROBERT ZANE WYANDOT IND/ANS 
(.y'0655 - 11/7/172+) (d. 2/4/1128) 

HENRY REYNOLDS 
1717 

HANNAH BROWN 
( o/)6/, .. ,. ·-~ cw,v,ro,-,,,,,,,,,,7") 

SAMUEL REYNOLDS 1/z~.,..
1 
SUSANNAH SIDWELL 

EBENEZER WITTER 

JOSEPH WITTER 

STEPHEN UPSON SAMUEL READ t/
7/ITCA8/fiAII. WHITE 

( d.ca. 1725) 

JOHN UPSON STEPHEN ATWATER=NARRIET HOTCHKISS 

Came from E11gland anc/ settled in 

Co~~d, ? /671 

PETER HARWOOD =MARY FOX 
(b. y12./1671, Concord) 

JtJHI HARWOOD =HANNAH 

came lo Amel'"ica j,., /682 
wifh William Penn 

NATHANIEL ZANE 

WILLIAM ZANE 

Confacted 1648 by white 
S~fflers nNr Detroif 

Owal~, DURANTE 
(Quebec) 

Whose wife and IJOung 
dauqhle,. ~re captured 
b'f Tar-he"s falher 

I 
TAR-HE'-Mllt. DURANTE 

f .,.,/mJ -•/1'3/~ ( d. 8/'.j/'19•} 
LI. JOHN READ= I.IICY 

{J2,/.._/;704 • t,/tS/1771) ( b. 4/28/ ITOJ, ,.,.,,do,,) {b, 7/2/170~ UxH1"dtje) (1742, - /818} 

RICHARD REYNOlDS .,./8/J
779

RACHEL ENGLAND El/JAIi WITTER=EllZABETH JOHN UPSON ,,;,s;,168LOIS ATWATER Rw. BENJ. CHAPMAN vsps6A8tGAll RIGGS 
(>,A{/17'4 • 9/9/,mJ ~- "/•/mo} ~ . (o/l7/r147- 2jt3/18:l.6) (c11. 1724 - 6/22/1786} 

LI. Col. SETH READ= HANNAH HARWOOD 
{3/6/1746 - J/19/1791) {7/30/1751-l.2,/8/182/) 

f C"I A J 1 ,,t!'•Ac "•NE '117 M"'EERAH benezer ,mas lltJN.:w vonafhan Elt'z11h~fh J#I 1, 14 , 1 

(17SJ- "1/-/1816) ( d. 2/-/1816 ) 

Sophia 8u111ba., (2 > 1829 ELISHA REYNOLDS ' 0
•
1801 <OMARY WITTER 

{12/22/1783 - 2/to/1843 J (1/16/1781 -¥1/1828) 

SYLYIA UPSON (2)9M'm, .. 8ENJAMIN CHAPMAN ,o,-a,Ns-UJ Pol!IJ Coale 
{tcyf2/JT73 - 3/r/182.,) (¥26ft763 - 3/T/1824) (1169- y2/1789) 

ANOAEW fiARDNER er,. 
1600 

/SABELLA SKILES 
(1779 - 1863) (J78Z·IB63) 

Ct:/, 1805 
M,,,g UJft111 (tJ =-...,,./AMIS MANNING READ== (2J ELIZABETH ZANE .-f 11111. R.Rt1,ileilk) 

( t/6/1170 -5/S/llJ47) ( 1782 - /847) 

Sarch Mary Elizabeth lmmer Susqn Deli/oh E. Lew/s Iii/ah /NA REYNOLDS 11/!4
/ieJJ HARRIET N. CHAPMAN 

{ 2/2/1807- 11/24/1880) (10/31/1816 - 3/12/1852 ) 

G•"· ISAAC SKILES GARDNER 7/es/Jas,El/ZA F4RIIOIN READ 
( '1/'l/1807 - 12/16/189.J) (o/f08IJ -y'i6/1892) 

Ebenezer Zane Reed 

Ow,~hf Owiqht Leunder L. . E(J9ene Iii/and /11>n1''f Jomes Irwin LUCIUS DELMAR REYNOLDS .9/.e;;/JMr SOPHIA TRASK GARDNER Eliwbelh /sqbe!/e R0~rl' Slci!es James R. Moria L. Sarah E. lsooc L. Margaret 

l S G I 4/15/r88:J 
EWI ARDNER REYNOLDS --J,a,-lfl Jlo,.dlJ l~ 

( 6/~8//85~ - 6/2q/i91-0) { 8/3//865 - li/17/1903) 

CONTINUED ON C.I-IAR T 2 

(9/30/1835 - 3/11/1913) ( 1,/16/1837· 6/16/1~) 

~ Lwis Haglws -,./8/1880 ANNIE ELIZA REYNOLDS 
{ lJ/1¥1858 • ~/1.917) (12/T,/1860 - 3/17/1!1l9) 

CONTINUED ON CHART 3 

HARRY CHAPMAN REYNOLDS 
( 1/7/1867- 2/7/18"11} 

EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS a/"/'9<>-ff!o,.tne, SlodtJll'd 
(1q/17/l869-.3/19/!9.J5") (7j,s/J879 - ) 

CONTINUED ON CHA~T 4 

Joi,,, £111m/s /Jtn,roft ~/r<J<¥"SOPHIA ADELE REYNOLDS 
( ,j2.5/'8 74 - 6/2~/192 9) ( 11/16 /188.3 - 4,/21/1941- ) 

CONTINUED ON CHART 5 





CHART 2 

DESCENDANTS OF LEWIS GARDNER REYNOLDS 

Mrs. Mary ( Vaugltatt) Williams (2) 

lfoMte MtK,e N,dfl11fJn 2/23
}

9
" MARY I.YTL.£ REYNOLDS LEWIS 6ARDN£R REYN()JJ)S,Jr. 1914 N«1«ct1 Maud Huffman Joi,,, WIiie Clementa 5JZ5

/t9
16.JANFT REYNOLDS 

(8/!2j1ses ~ s/21/1945) (6/30/1888 -) ( 6/2oj't892 -I0/11/1936) ( 2/18/1893-4/tZ/!948) (12/2/1889 -) I (6/1/1895 - ) 

I o/29/1940 
JlANNl11f UTlE==CIMrlff B. Clegg 

( 8/f9/l9/2 -) (lj1l7/l903-) 

I0/2/1937 
HONACE Mtttl,Jr.~ne &,qgs 

{8/8/1914 - ) ( u/,1/1914 - ) 

I 
MARTHA LYTLE CHARLES BAILEY 111 STEPHEN PHILLIPS MICHAEL GORDON 

[ S,/IS/i941-) ( .z/.!J//948 ..- ) r ,o/2s/1940-J r ~/4/IMtJ-J 

KATHlf EN PHILLIPS WILi.JAM ANTHONY 
( s/22/1943 -J ( ¥28,/2942 - ) 

9/23µ9J9 
Dot,forll, S.Mildttll=MAl/011 REYKOI.DS 

( 2/15/1915-) ( t/~/1917-) 
IIOBIRT REYNOLDS 

( KJ/9/19U - ) 

I 7/7/1945 • 
JOHii WAJ.TEll,Jr.,==fl'6nc,s ll'Gu,,.. 

r 6/16/191!>-J I r 4/'Tftns-J 

I I 
MNHRTH STfllf, Jr. MAIY RlYNOlDS 

( lo/1.3/1940 - ) ( 4/26//948-) 
(AIOI.I JOHii WALTER 1ll 

(12/8/1946-) ( 12/24/1948-) 

ROBERT HUFFMAN 
{ 8/.1/194-2 - ) 

CHART 3 

DESCENDANTS OF ANNIE ELIZA REYNOLDS 

, 4/8/1886 
Nob1rt L,w,s Hu9h•s==ANNIE ELIZA REYNOLDS 

( 8/l7/J8S8 - 7/5"/1917 ) I (12/7/1860 -¥17/1919) 

I 10/19/19/Q. I 11/12./192/ I 
HOBERT DAY!S=Marl/Ja Jlmries Le5/Jer Houston DELMAR REYIIOlDS=(fJltslante Burkom MARIANNA 

I 
r .5"/2,;/1a91-J I r S/S/tB96 -J r "l'j"/JtJ93 - J _ __. ____ r_,0_0_, 1_19-oc_-_J __ r_1¥_"_v1_93_~ -_,_:.z,/2-:,,f,-,e-97_)_ 

l/08ERT DAVIS, Jr. s/
30/194zlltJncg Wol~ 

(7/17/1919 -) I ( 8/S/192O -} 

HOBERT DAVIS 1/l 
( 2/16./1943-) 

I 
JAMES WOLFE 

( 1/2/194 7-J 

JAMES lAWRf NCE 
( 2/25jl924 -7/29/1929} 

ELIZABETH RANDOLPH 8UIKAMl/
20

h'J110s M. Dfflham 
(9/13/1922 -) 

CONSTANCE HILJ.IARD 
( Z/13/1947-) 

DELMAR REYNOLDS, Jr. 
(11/2.6/19,l.5-) 

I 
Rol#rl P. lit1utt,11

/l/l'J4I fATNRY/1 
r 9/16/1919-J r ,2ft9/l:m-J 

PETER (ATNIYN REYIOlD$ 
(f/9/194!-) fS/7/19-fS-) 





CHART 4 

DESCENDANTS OF EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS 

:z/11/190+ 
EDWIN STANTON REYNOLDS==Flol"entt Stoddard 

{ to/17'/1869 - J/19/1935 ) ( 7/t5/l819 -) 

7/7/1940 
JOHN W. STODDARD =6uanda Mae Carllr W115'rm Winans <1> == SUE KEIFER = (Z) Booth Wmrburg II.Mll1'il/ Dlclt,r FLORE/ICE STODDARD 

( 12/14/t9Cd-) ( I0/19/19,20 ~) (10/i,/19t!J-) I { ,o/l!/t9(5 -) 

JOjroj,947. 
Hiram Fran/1i, Dul't-• == THIRZA GRANT EDWIN STANTON Bl 

( 3/15/192.2 -) ( 9/23/1926 -) (12/12/1928 -) 

Nl(HOlAS GRANT 
r 12/2.s /1948 - ) 

I I 
PAMELA CARTER JOHN W. STODDARD,lr. ROSS srEPHEN FLORENCE STODDARD CONSUELO REYNOLDS 

r 9/11/19-,., -J r e/6/1945 -l (9/19/1936 - ) - ( Tll'lf/$) - (9/19/1936 -} 

CHART 5 

DESCENDANTS OF SOPHIA ADELE REYNOLDS 

6/2.I /1'105' 
John Ennals PorroH == SOPHIA ADELE REYNOLDS 

I 
CYNTHIA GATES 

(6/2,/r9J8-) 

(t/2sjls7,1, - 6/tSjl'lt9) { tl/t<:,//883 - 4/:Z3/l';.t;.4) 

JOHN ENNALS,Jr. 9129
/in+ Cgnthia Gat.$ 

r 6/Z4/!9o6 -) I 
I 

JOHN ENNALS 1Il. 
( Z/l{;fi94J-) 

I 
PEGGY 6ATES 
r 8/Z6/ 194s - J 

• 9/3/1945' 
A/fund,r WGowm Worma11 ==SOPHIE ADEI.E I {8/11/1924-, 

I I I 
ALICIA KATHLEEN RAMSEY AI.EXANDER MCGOW/11,Jr. 

(5j2.4/t9S6-) ------ { 9/l!i/19411-) 






